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ON THI S LAND

KO MAUNGAKIEKIE TE MAUNGA

KO WAITEMATĀ TE MOANA

KO MĀHUHU-KI-TE-RANGI TE WAKA

KO NGĀTI  WHĀTUA TE IWI

KO NGĀOHO, KO TE TAOŪ,  KO TE  
URINGUTU NGĀ HAPŪ

KO ORĀKEI  TE MARAE

E TŪ NGĀ URI  O TŪPERIRI

TĀMAKI  MAKAURAU E NGŪNGURU NEI !

KIA RERE ARORANGI TE KĀHU PŌKERE KI NGA TAUMATA TIKETIKE

TO SOAR AND FLY TO THE HIGHEST HEAVENS

II  



ON THI S LAND

TĒNĀ KOE. 

WELCOME TO OUR ANNUAL REPORT  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED  
30 JUNE 2016.

THIS YEAR WE HAVE CHOSEN TO  
DO THINGS A BIT DIFFERENTLY.  
THIS ANNUAL REPORT COMBINES 
THE HIGHLIGHTS AND KŌRERO OF 
THE NGĀTI WHĀTUA ŌRĀKEI TRUST, 
WHAI MAIA AND WHAI RAWA.

TOGETHER WE REPRESENT THE 
INTERESTS OF OVER 2,500 
REGISTERED MEMBERS, AND  
ARE CONSTANTLY STRIVING TO 
SUPPORT AND DEVELOP OUR  
PEOPLE SOCIALLY, CULTURALLY,  
AND ECONOMICALLY.

AS MANA WHENUA WITH PRIMARY 
INTERESTS IN CENTRAL AUCKLAND 
WE OFTEN FACE CHALLENGES. AT 
THE SAME TIME WE SEE THESE AS 
OPPORTUNITIES AND SOLUTIONS.

THIS YEAR WE DRAW ON THE 
WHAKATAUKI: MĀ TE RONGO, KA 
MŌHIO; MĀ TE MŌHIO, KA MĀRAMA; 
MĀ TE MĀRAMA, KA MĀTAU; MĀ TE 
MĀTAU, KA ORA. 

THROUGH AWARENESS COMES  
WISDOM; THROUGH WISDOM  
COMES UNDERSTANDING;  
THROUGH UNDERSTANDING 
COMES KNOWLEDGE; THROUGH 
KNOWLEDGE COMES LIFE AND 
WELL-BEING.

WE HAVE REVIEWED AND 
REFRESHED, AND WE ARE IN A  
GOOD POSITION TO CONTINUE OUR 
GROWTH AND REALISE THE DREAMS 
AND ASPIRATIONS OF OUR TUPUNA.

WE ARE NGĀTI WHĀTUA ŌRĀKEI. 
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HIGHLIGHTS

15

INCLUDE S SUPPOR T FOR:

2 
9 BACHELORS

3 MA S TERS

1 PHD

SUCCESSES
SUCCES SES INCLUDE A PATIENT WITH A 
50% CHANCE OF LOSING ALL ABILIT Y  TO 
WALK FINDING RELIEF IN RECEIVING 
RONGOĀ MĀORI  TRE ATMENT.  HE WALKED 
BENT OVER IN PAIN AND NOW LE AVES 
THE CLINIC,  S TE ADIER ON HIS  FEE T AND 
HE AD HELD HIGH

COMPLETED
COMPLE TED RENOVATIONS TO HAUOR A 
CLINIC,  PROVIDING NE W NURSE TRIAGING 
AND RESUSCITATION ARE A S A S WELL A S 
INCRE A SED CONSULTATION C APACIT Y

ACHIEVED
ACHIE VED CORNERS TONE ACCREDITATION 
TO NE W ZE AL AND ROYAL COLLEGE OF 
GENER AL PR AC TIT IONERS S TANDARDS

PATIENT
PATIENT ENROLMENT S INCRE A SED BY 10% 
OVER THE L A S T T WO YE ARS,  E XCEEDING  
THE AVER AGE GROW TH IN SURROUNDING 
GENER AL PR AC TICES BY 3.5  T IMES

HE TAUMATA RAU 2016 SCHOLARSHIPS HAUORA

RONGOĀ

P OS T  
GR ADUATE 
DIPLOMA S

RECIPIENT S IN TOTAL 
RECEIVED AT THE S TART 
OF 2016

13  -  $2,500
2 -  $950

ADVANNCING
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OUR PEOPLE

$163,967 
TOTAL AMOUNT DIS TRIBU TED

30
HOMES A S PART OF K ĀING A T UATAHI

$939M
TOTAL A S SE T S

UP 22%
SINCE L A S T FINANCIAL YE AR 2014/ 15

EDUCATION GRANTS FOR 2016 

FINANCIAL GAINS

KĀINGA TUATAHI

ADVANNCING
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WE ARE  
NGĀTI 

WHĀTUA 
ORĀKEI

0 6  C H A I R M A N ' S  R E P O R T

0 8  T R U S T  H I G H L I G H T S  A N D  S T R AT E G Y

1 2  E D U C AT I O N

1 3  E V E N T S

1 4  W A I O R A

1 6  K A I T I A K I TA N G A

1 8  R Ā  K A R A K I A

2 0  W H A I  R A W A  H I G H L I G H T S

2 2  C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E

2 8  F I N A N C I A L S

5 2  A U D I T  R E P O R T

I B C  D I R E C T O R Y
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The past year has been filled with 
achievements and successes. From the 
opening of Kāinga Tuatahi and welcoming 
our whānau into new, warm and dry homes, 
through to supporting our hapū members 
with social programmes, Te Reo wānanga, 
and growing our asset base.

Alongside this positive progress, we have 
continued to uphold our role as Mana 
Whenua, hosting our local communities, 
dignitaries, and even international superstars 
Oprah Winfrey and Venus Williams. 

But it has also been a tough year for the 
hapū with ongoing challenges in our 
relationship with the Crown. The Trust’s 
mahi to protect our Treaty Settlement 
through court action continues, and in 
2015 we successfully joined other iwi to 
challenge the Government’s approach to 
freeing up surplus land in Tāmaki Makaurau. 

While these matters are testing and at times 
stretch those relationships, we have always 
taken a pragmatic approach and tried to 
work with the Government and other iwi to 
find solutions for all parties. 

REFLECTION AND RETURN 
TO THE KĀINGA
As Trustees, it is an honour and privilege 
to serve our hapū and this year has been 
a time of reflection for us. To me, it’s as if 
we have come full circle and returned  
back home. 

Over the past four years since our 
Settlement, we have been through 
significant changes and growth. This has 
included providing increased opportunities 
for our whānau through housing, cultural 
activities, social services support, and 
economic progress – all as part of building 
our organisation. Now we’re in a fortunate 
position to be able to look inwards again.

A YEAR OF REVIEW
One of the Trust’s key pieces of mahi during 
the year was the review and refresh of our 
Strategic Plan, which will guide the Group 
over the coming five years. 

Our previous strategy served us well and 
was fit for our foundation period, but our 
new strategy better reflects where we 
are now and where we want to go. The 
review and refresh included updating our 
mātāpono, which we draw upon often. 
These mātāpono are effectively our Code  
of Conduct.

CONNECTING WITH OUR PEOPLE
Another important area of mahi was our 
Trust Deed Review, where we looked at 
whether our Deed was still fit for purpose. 

We received good insights from the 
submissions and whānau feedback, which 
the Trust has analysed carefully. A key point 
that came out was that our members want 
to see us more often and to meet kanohi ki 
te kanohi both at home, around the motu 
and abroad.

Recently we have done just that through 
consultation hui across Aotearoa and in 
Australia. This has been a great kaupapa 
and has allowed us to meet with whānau, 
discuss what we are doing and to keep 
people up to date.

PRIORITISING THROUGH 
OUR INVESTMENTS
We know our future is safe. Our asset value 
has grown by $172 million to $939 million. 

Few would have expected us to get to the 
financial position we are in today, as quickly 
as we have. I thank the Whai Rawa Chair, 
the Board and the team who work hard and 
ensure strategic investment and strong 
financial management continue to deliver 
us great results.

As a hapū we reap the benefits of our 
investments every year. The great thing 
about having a strong balance sheet is that 
it has allowed us to prioritise our spending 
and make investments where we otherwise 
would not have been able to. 

While we are always working to ensure that 
the future is bright for our mokopuna, we 
are in the fortunate position to also be able 
to focus on the here and now, which has 
been truly rewarding. 

The Trust has a wishlist of projects it 
wants to roll out over the coming two to 
three years and we are working with our 
subsidiaries Whai Rawa and Whai Maia to 
make these happen.

We believe in our people, and we are always 
encouraged to see them doing well. I mihi 
to the Whai Maia Chair, the Board and all 
of the team. I acknowledge also the new 
Chief Executive Rangimarie Hunia, who 
stepped down from the Trust to take on this 
important role. 

NEW FOCUS AND NEW ENERGY
During the year we held Trustee elections, 
which brought a different make up of 
people, new energy, and new thinking to the 
table. We have a Trust that represents our 
pākeke and our youth. I mihi to my fellow 
Trustees and thank you for your tireless 
dedication to our hapū.

I would also like to say a big thank you 
to those who left the Trust, including 
Rangimarie Rawiri and Margaret Kawharu.  
I also acknowledge matua Grant Hawke  
who left the Trust for a period during 
the year but returned when Rangimarie 
Hunia joined Whai Maia. These rangatira 
collectively have devoted 55 years’ service 
to Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei.

E rau rangatira anei te mihi aroha ki a 
koutou ngā māreikura.

LOOKING FORWARD
This is an exciting time for our hapū and our 
Group. As a people, Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei is 
used to change. We are used to challenges 
and we are used to adapting.

Our hapū is in a good position and can now 
fulfil some of the hopes and aspirations 
of our tūpuna and kaumātua – including 
keeping things maintained, looking after 
our marae, opening the doors to whānau no 
matter where they are from or who they are. 

As Mana Whenua we want to continue to 
play a key role in helping to develop this 
city. We look forward to working further 
with our wider iwi, other iwi, Government, 

On behalf of the Trust and the Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Group, 
I am proud to present this Annual Report.

E TE IWI,  NGĀ URI  O TŪPERIRI 
TĒNĀ KOUTOU KATOA .
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Auckland Council and our communities – 
but at all times we will prioritise protecting 
the interests of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei.

NGĀ MIHI KĀTI
I would like to pay tribute to those we 
lost this year, including renowned leader 
and our close friend Dr Ranginui Walker. 
Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei was proud to hold 
Dr Walker’s tangi in March and share 
his farewell alongside his whānau. E te 
rangatira moe mai rā. Kati.

Finally, I thank all our whānau who continue 
to make our hapū strong, those who keep 
the home fires burning, our Kaumātua 
and Kaukuia, and all of the staff across 
the Group. 

Our power is in our people. Kia tū a Ngāti 
Whātua Ōrākei i runga i tōna anō tino 
rangatiratanga.

Kia ora.

Phillip Te Waka Davis 
CHAIRMAN 
NGĀTI WHĀTUA ŌRĀKEI TRUST

“ AS TRUSTEES,  IT  IS  AN HONOUR 
AND PRIVILEGE TO SERVE OUR 
HAPŪ AND THIS YEAR HAS BEEN 
A TIME OF REFLECTION FOR US. 
TO ME,  IT ’S  AS IF  WE HAVE COME 
FULL CIRCLE AND RETURNED 
BACK HOME.”
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STRATEGY 
The Trust has developed a new Strategic 
Plan to take us through to 2021. This Plan 
is driven by the new key objective: Kia rere 
arorangi te kāhu pōkere ki ngā taumata 
tiketike – To enable our hapū to soar and fly 
to the highest heavens.

Our vision is to ensure that we can support 
our whānau at home, on the marae, in 
education, and wherever they are, either in 
Aotearoa or abroad. 

In order to meet these goals and be 
effective, we need to be aware of where we 
have been. It is important that our Trust, 
and subsidiaries undertake regular reviews 
to continue to improve the performance of 
all three Boards.

TRUST HIGHLIGHTS
The following sections provide a summary 
of important pieces of mahi for the Trust 
over the past financial year.

Governance Review
The Trust led a Governance Review of 
all three boards in early 2016. This was a 
valuable exercise and provided good insights 
into how we are operating as a relatively 
new Post-Settlement Governance Entity.

The review was conducted by an external 
consultant, Robert Gordon of BoardAccord, 
and looked specifically at the alignment of 
the Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Group (the Trust, 
Whai Maia, Whai Rawa) and its leadership.

Trust Deed Review
A review of the Trust Deed was also 
completed in 2015 by a working group 
including members of the Trust, an external 
consultant (David Gray), and the Chair of 
the Taumata Kaumātua. 

The Trust Deed sets out the guidelines of 
how the Trust operates and sets out what we 
are able to do with our land, buildings and 
the distribution of wealth to our people.

The review looked at whether the Trust 
Deed was still fit for purpose, and delivered 
a number of recommendations. At the time 
of writing the Trust was considering those.

Consultation Hui
As part of these reviews, the Trust completed 
a haerenga across Aotearoa and Australia to 
discuss this mahi with our hapū members. 

The Trust sought feedback from whānau on 
three simple questions:

1. What are we doing well?

2. What could we be doing better?

3. What do you feel needs to change?

Feedback from the haerenga will be 
collated and analysed, and will support 
the Trust to make decisions about the 
recommendations. The Trust plans to 
provide an update to whānau in early 2017.

Whātua Āhurutanga
Housing has been, and continues to be, one 
of the most challenging issues facing our 
hapū, and the Trust Board. 

Achieving a cohesive approach involving 
the Trust Board, Whai Maia and Whai Rawa 
is important to ensure our strategy and 
management procedures are aligned and 
working for the benefit of our whānau. 

During the year, the Trust Board set up 
‘Whātua Āhurutanga’ a committee including 
two members of the Trust Board, board 
representatives from Whai Maia and Whai 
Rawa, and two whānau members. 

Whātua Āhurutanga is tasked with 
developing a Housing Strategy by 30 March 
2017 and it will work with a consultant to 
do this. A crucial part of the process will be 
engagement with whānau. 

The Whātua Āhurutanga committee Chair is 
Precious Clark (Whai Rawa). She is joined by 
Dane Grey (Whai Rawa), Lope Ginnen (Chair 
of Whai Maia), Wyllis Maihi (Trust Board), 
Wayne Pihema (Trust Board) and Donna 
Tamaariki (Whai Maia). 

Supporting Kaumātua
The Trust has provided ongoing support 
for our kaumātua activities, ensuring they 
were able to carry out their important mahi 
as rangatira. This included our kaumātua 
undertaking taumata hui, travelling en 
masse to different kaupapa, and attending 
Koroneihana and Rātana Pā celebrations on 
behalf of our hapū. 

Our kaumātua have also been busy on the 
stage, performing at the Tāmaki kapahaka 
regionals at Vector Arena, and the national 
kaumātua kapahaka held at Te Papa. They 
represented Te Puru o Tāmaki – Ngāti 
Whātua Ōrākei with pride. 

What made these kapahaka performances 
even more special was that they were live 
streamed to whānau and audiences around 
the world. 

Our kaumātua have told the Trust that they 
are grateful the for the continued support, 
which allows them to stand proud and 
represent our hapū as ahi kaa of Tāmaki. 

Protecting our settlement
The Trust’s Settlement Protection Team 
has been busy this year preparing for court 
action against the Crown. 

The Trust must work to protect our 
Settlements but we do this at all times 
respecting tikanga and our relationships.

We have recently had the first High Court 
hearing, and at the time of writing, we are 
awaiting the judgement.

The purpose of the Trust is to ensure the cultural, social and commercial development 
of our people by managing and protecting our assets. We constantly seek to 
demonstrate strong leadership for our hapū through good governance, transparent 
decision-making and by working together with our subsidiaries.

NGĀ WHĀINGA
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STRUCTURE

WHAI MAIA & WHAI RAWA

TRUST

NGĀ URI O TŪPERIRI

MARAE

• The Trust is the overseer of the group. 

• Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Maia Limited 
charged with working and developing 
capacity for the people of Ngāti Whātua 
Ōrākei to be in control of their own 
destiny. 

• Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Rawa 
Limited is responsible for growing the 
commercial assets for the group that will 
enable tribal development to occur on all 
fronts of education, health, employment, 
arts and music, and sport.

The diagram below shows the Marae in 
the centre. It is the ‘hub of our universe’ 
where all of Ngā Uri o Tūperiri connect 
through whakapapa. The subsidiaries Whai 
Maia and Whai Rawa are working hard to 
provide the services required by the Trust 
for the people. 

Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trust (the Trust) is the post settlement entity  
that heads the ‘group’. This group consists of three entities.

STRUCTURE
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STRATEGIC PLAN 2016 –  2021

KUPU WHAKAKITENGA VISION

Ko Maungakiekie te maunga Maungakiekie is the mountain

Ko Waitematā te moana Waitematā is the sea

Ko Māhuhu-ki-te-rangi te waka Māhuhu-ki-te-rangi is the canoe

Ko Ngāti Whātua te iwi Ngāti Whātua is the tribe

Ko Ngāoho, ko Te Taoū, ko te Uringutu ngā hapū Ngāoho, Te Taoū, Te Uringutu are the subtribes

Ko Orākei te marae Orākei is the marae

E tū ngā uri o Tūperiri The descendants of Tūperiri stand strong and Tāmaki Makaurau roars

Tāmaki Makaurau e ngūnguru nei

WHAINGA MATUA KEY GOAL

Kia rere arorangi te kāhu pōkere ki ngā taumata tiketike ‘To soar and fly to the highest heavens’

NGĀ MĀTĀPONO KEY PRINCIPLES

Tino Rangatiratanga
Kia tū a Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei i runga i tōna anō tino 
rangatiratanga

Self Determination
Stand strong as Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei now and forever

Rangatiratanga
Kia whakatinana i ngā āhuatanga tika o te rangatiratanga 
puta noa te hapū

Leadership
To live and practise positive leadership throughout the hapū

Manaakitanga
Ko te whānau kei te pokapū o ngā kaupapa manaaki a te 
poari. Whai muri, kia rongo ngā hau e whā i te kākara o te 
manaaki o Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei

Care and host responsibility
Whānau are the core focus of hapū development. Our host responsibility 
to others will positively reflect our role as tangata whenua

Whanaungatanga
Kia kitea te mana me te tapu o ia kāwai heke i heke iho ai i a 
Tūperiri hei rangitāmiro i a tātou

Kinship
To embrace and acknowledge the importance of our whakapapa and 
relationships and how these bind us together

Kotahitanga
Kia kotahi te tū kia kotahi te hoe

Unity
Stand as one and work together

Kaitiakitanga
Kia tiakina ō tātou whānau, ō tātou whenua, ā tātou taonga 
me ā tātou rawa mō āke tonu atu

Guardianship
To protect our people, our lands, our resources and our taonga forever

Mana Taurite
Kia taurite te whai wāhi atu o ngā uri ki ngā painga me ngā 
angitu

Equity
All hapū members have equal access to benefits and opportunities 

Ahi kaa
Kia kōwhiuwhiutia tonutia te ahi kā, kei pūrēhua, ā, ka kewa

Keeping the home fires burning
To uphold the unique and important role that Orākei papakāinga 
maintains across Tāmaki Makaurau
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EDUCATION

ONG
STR
GER
TOGETHER

KOTAHITANGA
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E D U C AT I O N

WHAI MAIA HIGHLIGHTS
The following pages provide a summary of 
the mahi Whai Maia has undertaken during 
the financial year.

A strategic approach to meeting the 
educational needs of our people 
This year has been one of review and re-
evaluation for Whai Maia also. 
The company has spent considerable time 
assessing the needs of our whānau, from 
pēpi to kaumātua. We looked at every 
existing activity, initiative, event, and 
programme and asked “what is its purpose? 
Is it still relevant?” And if not, “what should 
we do about it?” 
Firmly in our minds was the vision 
articulated by Titahi in the oriori ‘He aha 
te hau’. Those kupu speak about the winds 
of change and innovation. We have used 
this whakaaro in our mahi to ensure we are 
always ready to take a new, and innovative 
approach, even if that is different to how we 
would usually operate.

Education initiatives continue to 
impact whānau
Whai Maia has had another busy year 
across the education portfolio. It has been 
encouraging to see results within our 
existing programmes and these making 

a difference amongst Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
whānau. This has included education grants, 
tutoring, swimming subsidies, tri-partite 
scholarships, establishing a homework 
centre, supporting financial literacy (Kids 
coin), as well as our inaugural Hui Poutama. 

Whai Poutama Education
In the āhuatanga of Te Kāhupōkere, Whai 
Poutama aims to soar high, free and 
unencumbered, while being confident, 
proud, astute and strong. We are committed 
to implementing new approaches and 
strategies if required, and have done so 
during the year.
Whai Poutama is working hard to ensure 
align of this whakaaro across all parts of  
its mahi by early 2017. 

WEAPs
Of particular note, Whai Maia was funded 
to provide Whānau Education Action Plans 
(WEAPs). These Plans sit alongside our 
scholarship programmes. 
WEAPs is a Ministry of Education contract 
and has been developed as a way to help 
“iwi champions” support whānau who want 
to become more involved in furthering their 
children's education.
There are three main aims: 
• To increase the numbers of our pēpi and 

tamaiti in early childhood education

• achieve NCEA L2 or equivalent for 
all under 18 Māori learners 

• meet ngā whanaketanga /national 
standards for literacy and numeracy 
for Māori learners Years 1-8

The impact of WEAPs is far reaching and 
the feedback so far is fantastic. 
One whānau recently told Whai Maia, 
“Your support in the WEAP has not only 
helped take away financial stress but has 
made a massive impact on the overall 
wellbeing of me and my whānau”. 

SCHOLARSHIPS 
He Taumata Rau
Whai Maia has the privilege of allocating a 
variety of scholarships every year that support 
the growth and education of our whānau.
He Taumata Rau scholarship began in 2011 as 
an annual tertiary scholarship. Its purpose 
is to develop the capability and skills of our 
whānau, so they can contribute to the future 
success of the hapū.
We offer registered Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
undergraduate and postgraduate tertiary 
students up to $2,500 towards their course 
fees. This year our scholarship panel received 
the most applications it ever has with 23 in all.
Since its inception the scholarship has seen 
a steady increase in uptake, and we expect 
this growth to continue as more of our 
whānau and hapū enrol in tertiary education 
in the pursuit of rangatiratanga.

Mussel reef restoration programme
The Outboard Boating Club Tāmaki Drive has 
been a partner in the Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
mussel reef restoration programme since 
2014, and funds a $1500 scholarship. 
This year’s recipient was Marara Van Buuren, 
who is currently studying Marine Biology 
at the University of Auckland. Marara says 
“I'm looking forward to learning more 
about the mahi Ngāti Whātua are doing in 
the field of marine biology”. We wish her 
well in this mahi.

“  THESE SCHOLARSHIPS PROVIDE OPPORTUNITIES FOR STUDENTS 
TO STUDY WITHOUT THE BURDEN OF A STUDENT LOAN. 
THE AWARD ENCOURAGES THEM TO HANG IN THERE ON THEIR 
STUDY JOURNEY, WHICH CAN BECOME A DAUNTING EXPERIENCE. 
WE ACKNOWLEDGE THE HUGE POTENTIAL ,  AND THESE 
SCHOLARSHIPS ARE INVESTMENTS IN OUR WHĀNAU”.

RIA SIDWELL, EDUCATION KAITIAKI.
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EVENTS

E V E N T S
Mokopuna VIPs at intergenerational 
celebration
This year’s 2nd annual Mokopuna Day was 
a huge success and again reinforced our 
sense of intergenerational responsibility.
The celebration was held in March on and 
around Ōrākei Marae. There were smiles for 
miles as pēpi through to kaumātua returned 
to the whenua to enjoy the thrill of what 
was basically their own private theme park. 
More than 200 whānau took part in the day, 
which was a remind to our mokopuna that 
they are our VIPs.
The aim of the day was to have fun and 
connect whānau to the whenua, while 
also promoting whanaungatanga and 
kotahitanga. 
Watching hundreds of people on the 
M2M hīkoi around Ōrākei, and then being 
welcomed with haka and waiata at the finish 
line, was a memorable sight, said organiser 
Rebecca Sullivan. 
The day exposed whānau to new 
experiences and ensured they were 
outdoors, active, and having fun together.
As part of the day Whai Maia provided 
waterslides and a large outdoor screen 
where, as the sun set, whānau gathered 
and watched a movie together on 
Takaparawhau. 
Vodafone also contributed beanbags, and 
one whānau even brought out a bed for 
their kuia. 
Whānau were also given spot prizes for 
things like the ‘oldest walker’.
General Manager Lisa Davis says “Our 
mokopuna are our next generation. They’re 
the leaders of tomorrow. We want this one 
day to ensure that they feel valued and that 
they know how important they are to us”.
Whai Maia is currently planning a number of 
events for 2017.

“ OUR MOKOPUNA ARE OUR NEXT 
GENERATION.  THEY ’RE THE LEADERS OF 
TOMORROW. WE WANT THIS ONE DAY TO 
ENSURE THAT THEY FEEL VALUED AND 
THAT THEY KNOW HOW IMPORTANT THEY 
ARE TO US ”.

LISA DAVIS, GENERAL MANAGER, TOURISM AND EVENTS.
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Tarati Blair-Hunt (Practice Manager, Waiora) 
sums up the experience of those who use 
Orākei Health Services. “Everyone walks out 
happier and more focused because we’ve 
wrapped our care around them and we’ve 
lightened their load.” 
This year we’ve achieved all the Ministry of 
Health Key Indicators. We’ve also increased 
our service offering by introducing Weaving 
Waiora, and have hired two more Rongoā 
practitioners. 
Our clinics give Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
a profile in the community and raise 
awareness of our kaupapa. 
Our services are rich and colourful and 
we’re proud of how our approaches 
normalise the use of the reo every day. 
“To see a non-Māori client walk in and say, 
Kia ora is awesome” says Tarati.
Orākei Health Services offer incredibly 
low cost appointments at $18.00 for ages 
18 – 65, and $10 for kaumātua. GP visits are 
around 15 minutes, and Rongoā Practitioner 
appointments are one-hour long. 

A holistic approach to well-being
Orākei Health Services practices a holistic 
approach and that’s what makes it different 
from other providers.
An initial meeting with a GP at either the 
Glen Innes or the Orākei clinic, is a gateway 
to all the support and services our clients 
and their whānau could possibly need. This 
includes Rongoā (traditional medicines 
and approaches to wellbeing), which is 
possibly our biggest point of difference and 
something we are very proud of.
Clients do not have to see a GP to access 
our Rongoā practitioners. All of the choices 
for how best to support whānau wellbeing 
are in our clients’ hands. Ensuring our 
clients are aware of all the options available 
to them, is something that drives the team 
at Orākei Health Services.
“First, we will do a needs assessment 
and then we work alongside our clients 
to access Rongoā, Tamariki Ora, Manaaki 
Health, diabetes clinic, and any other 
services they need”.

Serving our community
Dean Kelly (General Manager, Waiora) says 
the team is helping provide outcomes for 
whānau outside of health also.
“We encourage all iwi members to come 
and see how we can help your family in your 
pursuit for mauri ora.
“Having Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei whānau 
work with us builds our connections and 
means we can take care of not only their 
current health needs but also gain an 
understanding of their overall position and 
provide advice on accessing other Whai 
Maia services.” 
“We’re also serving our wider community. 
All nationalities and ethnicities are welcome 
but we want more of our own through 
these doors”.

O R Ā K E I  H E A LT H 
S E R V I C E S
P R O V I D I N G  W E S T E R N  A N D  T R A D I T I O N A L  H E A LT H  C A R E  T O  T H E  C O M M U N I T Y

“ HAVING NGĀTI  WHĀTUA ŌRĀKEI  WHĀNAU WORK WITH 
US BUILDS OUR CONNECTIONS AND MEANS WE CAN 
TAKE CARE OF NOT ONLY THEIR CURRENT HEALTH 
NEEDS BUT ALSO GAIN AN UNDERSTANDING OF 
THEIR OVERALL POSITION AND PROVIDE ADVICE ON 
ACCESSING OTHER WHAI MAIA SERVICES.”

DEAN KELLY, GENERAL MANAGER, WAIORA.
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W E AV I N G  W A I O R A
W E AV I N G  W H Ā N A U  K N O W L E D G E  F O R  W E L L B E I N G  P Ē P I ,  TA M A R I K I ,  
A N D  B E Y O N D

This has been a busy year again for our 
team involved in Whānau Ora. Our Whānau 
Ora services reflect a “continuum of 
care” approach, including Tamariki Ora 
and support for whānau through difficult 
personal and professional challenges.
As a Well Child provider, our Tamariki 
Ora team provide free health checks for 
all children up to five years. We have two 
registered nurses and two kaimanaaki 
tangata. Together, they support more than 
200 whānau from Orākei to Otāhuhu.
This year, we were honoured to be invited 
to be part of Weaving Waiora – a kaupapa 
Māori pregnancy and parenting education 
programme. 
Weaving Waiora is about whanaungatanga, 
bringing whānau together, sharing 
experiences, and weaving whānau 
knowledge for the wellbeing of our tamariki, 
whānau, hapū and iwi. 
Our young and first-time parents gain 
understanding from a traditional 
perspective about their pregnancy and 
parenting journey. They do this through 
karakia, waiata, using taonga pūoro 
(traditional musical instruments), and 
creating their own ipu whenua (used for 
planting the whenua – placenta). They also 
get access to hand-woven wahakura for 
their pēpi to sleep safely. And throughout, 
they explore aspects of Te Ao Māori relating 
to hapū and whanaungatanga. 

Relationships key to delivery
We’ve been able to build strong 
relationships with an extended whānau of 
Māori providers including midwives, child 
birth educators, social workers, stop-
smoking practitioners, and a nutritionist. 
This whanaungatanga has already delivered 
successful outcomes for our hapū māma 
who have previously participated in the 
Weaving Waiora programme. Some of 
these ‘Tuakana Māmā’ returned to share 
their stories with the next generation of 
participants, which was fantastic. 

Ngā mihi
At Tamariki Ora, we consistently focus on 
being a whānau-centered service. While 
our first obligation is to the wellbeing and 
safety of tamariki, we know it’s the whānau 
who hold the mana, and who are the key to 
nurturing our little ones. 
We are privileged to be able to support 
māmā, pāpā, aunties, uncles, Koro and 
Nannies, and we mihi to them, as they are 
the true Whānau Ora providers. 

WEAVING WAIORA IS  ABOUT WHANAUNGATANGA , BRINGING 
WHĀNAU TOGETHER,  SHARING EXPERIENCES,  AND WEAVING 
WHĀNAU KNOWLEDGE FOR THE WELLBEING OF OUR TAMARIKI, 
WHĀNAU, HAPŪ AND IWI.

OUR YOUNG AND FIRST-TIME PARENTS 
GAIN UNDERSTANDING FROM A 
TRADITIONAL PERSPECTIVE ABOUT 
THEIR PREGNANCY AND PARENTING 
JOURNEY.  THEY DO THIS THROUGH 
KARAKIA ,  WAIATA ,  USING TAONGA 
PŪORO (TRADITIONAL MUSICAL 
INSTRUMENTS),  AND CREATING THEIR 
OWN IPU WHENUA (USED FOR PLANTING 
THE WHENUA – PLACENTA).

WEAVING WAIORA
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K A I T I A K I TA N G A
P R O T E C T I N G  O U R  PA S T,  P R E S E N T,  A N D  F U T U R E

At Toki Taiao, we see ourselves as kaitiaki 
to protect our language, culture, artistic 
expression, our environment, and our 
heritage. This is what drives us. 
General Manager, Culture and Identity, 
Te Aroha Morehu says “We are moving 
towards a seamless application of 
ecological practice from the whenua to the 
moana. As we restore the ngahere, water 
running off the whenua is filtered before it 
gets to the moana. 
“If we get this right, it means ngā manu 
return home, and as we continue to 
filter and restore our moana, the ika and 
kaimoana return home also. Those are two 
ancient indicators that things are safe: the 
manu and the kaimoana are plentiful”.
The following are some of the highlights 
from our mahi this year.

Okahu Bay moana restoration
The Okahu Bay moana restoration is a key 
project for Toki Taiao and we are already 
seeing results.
This year alone, six tonnes of mussels have 
been planted in the bay. This has begun a 
process of ecological restoration that will be 
able to continue more practically once the 
moorings have been removed in mid 2017. 
Toki Taiao is also working towards printing 
3D reefs as habitat for our kaimoana, 
which would provide a whole new realm 
of possibilities.

Ko Te Pūkaki, Ōkahu Rākau, 
regenerating our Whenua Rangatira
Our Whenua Rangatira is the green heart of 
Auckland’s waterfront. It’s one of the largest 
green spaces in Tāmaki. 
Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei has an amazing 
opportunity to increase awareness 
of its role as manawhenua through 
ecological restoration and interaction with 
Auckland’s public. 
‘Ko Te Pukaki’ is our ngahere restoration 
project, delivered tirelessly and 
passionately by Ōkahu Rākau (nursery 
and bush maintenance team). Originally 
developed to negate flooding and erosion 
around Tāmaki Bay, the project is now into 
its 15th year. 

The project is using a very careful strategy 
to regenerate the native forest including a 
staged planting approach. 
Kauri and other rangatira species need 
a three-metre canopy to shelter them 
as seedlings and a lot more manaaki. 
This year, Toki Taiao has planted 11,000 
native seedlings.
These projects are a shining light for others 
to follow and Auckland Council tells us that 
this work is now considered best practice in 
terms of ecological restoration. 
We are proud that our mahi uses no 
pesticides, herbicides, or poison of any 
kind, which means there is no run off into 
our waterways.

Para Kore – diverting waste away from 
Papatūānuku
Eruini Hawke is passionate about rubbish, 
at least reducing and eliminating. 
Stephanie is responsible for delivering our 
Para Kore (Zero Waste) project to marae in 
the Tāmaki region. 
Starting originally with Orākei, we have 
supported other marae to work through 
the Para Kore development process from 
education to facility development, and 
on to implementation. As each marae 
progresses they’re recognised for their 
achievements through the stages of Te Kore, 
Te Pō, and Te Ao and Rangituhaha, at 
which point they become champions of the 
Para Kore kaupapa.
The influence of the project can be 
seen at times like our Waitangi Day 
commemorations at Orākei this year. 
All vendors were required to use only 
biodegradable products to serve their kai. 
Another initiative was to have pigs on site 
to eat food scraps. In all, there was a 96% 
diversion of waste away from landfill. That’s 
an amazing accomplishment.

Toki Taiao and resource management – 
being a conscience to the council
Toki Taiao, our heritage and resource 
management unit, has had a fruitful year 
with a wide, influential reach. 
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Our many projects align with the work of 
our Group and hapū kaupapa and also 
those of local and national government and 
the business community.
Under the Resource Management Act our 
Iwi Management Plan has brought us to a 
point where we are now experiencing a true 
Treaty partnership with Council. 
Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei and Auckland Council 
have worked closer together. General 
Manager Te Aroha Morehu describes the 
partnership as genuine mahitahi and 
making kaitiakitanga a part of everyday 
operations.
During the year, Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
was approached often by Council and 
developers particularly in relation 
to sensitive cultural matters or for 
consultation as mana whenua. 
The success of this partnership was 
demonstrated through the Independent 
Hearing Panel process (under the Unitary 
Plan), which accepted our submission to 
remove all moorings from Ōkahu Bay from 
mid-2017. This will allow Ngāti Whātua 
Ōrākei, to work towards restoring both the 
whenua and moana.

Ngā Toi – Retaining and restoring our 
narrative through the arts
The contribution of our hapū artists is 
significant, as their work brings our peoples’ 
stories to light. Toki Taiao is tasked with 
connecting and promoting Ngāti Whātua 
Ōrākei artists in projects around Tāmaki.
One significant project during the year was 
the stunning ‘Te Ara i Whiti – Lightpath’. This 
is the new Nelson Street shared cycle path 
opened by the Minister of Transport. Artists 
Arekatera (Katz) Maihi and Matt Tamariki 
provided cultural advice within this project. 
Another opportunity which put Ngāti 
Whātua Ōrākei artists in the spotlight was 
the 2016 ASB Tennis Tournament. This year 
for the first time, winners and runners up 
received trophies hand carved by Lenard 
Phillips and Denis Conway.
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R Ā  K A R A K I A
M A N U H I R I  I M M E R S E D  I N  W A I R U ATA N G A

Watching the sun rise over the Waitematā 
while hearing the call of the kaikaranga 
is something that changes you. Thanks to 
Rā Karakia, that’s an experience that VIP 
manuhiri can now enjoy. 
Rā Karakia is the newest project from the 
Tourism and Events team, led by General 
Manager Lisa Davis, and it’s all part of 
forming and strengthening strategic 
business relationships, both domestic and 
international.
Rā Karakia is effectively a tikanga-guided 
tourism experience based on the pōwhiri 
process, which creates lasting and 
meaningful relationships with our manuhiri. 
The experience was launched on 14 April 
2016, and was supported by funding 
from Auckland Airport. The first group of 
manuhiri included guests from China, who 
were part of a social media campaign. 
Lisa says the first experience had a spiritual 
impact on both manuhiri and whānau. “The 
manuhiri were blown away and at the same 
time, it made us see our whenua with fresh 
eyes – we forget how lucky we are to be 
here every day.

“We are really proud to be able to share 
our stories,” says Lisa, “it is great to help 
increase awareness about our history and 
promote what that means for us today. We 
are hopeful that this project will create 
opportunities for long-term relationships 
and potential business partnerships”.
As part of Rā Karakia, manuhiri are taken 
from Ōrākei Marae to Takaparawha, the site 
of the Bastion Point protest. They watch 
the sun rise with a karanga and karakia to 
welcome in the new day. Next guests hear 
stories about the history of the whenua, and 
each receive a taonga which is then blessed.
“We want them to have something to take 
away,” says Lisa. “Something personal and 
meaningful that will remind them of our 
connections and the importance, value, and 
honour we place in hosting them”.
Manuhiri are also invited to plant a seedling 
(or adopt one, depending on the season) 
on our Whenua Rangatira as part of Ko Te 
Pukaki (our ngahere regeneration project).

“ IT  IS  GREAT TO HELP INCREASE 
AWARENESS ABOUT OUR HISTORY  
AND PROMOTE WHAT THAT MEANS  
FOR US TODAY.”

LISA DAVIS, GENERAL MANAGER, TOURISM AND EVENTS.
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WHAI RAWA  HIGHLIGHTS SINCE 2013

TĒNĀ KOUTOU,

We have been reflecting on the Whai Rawa 
journey – not just during the past year – but 
the progress made over the four years since 
inception.

Back in 2013, we wrote: “It is Whai Rawa’s 
aim to explore all options available to Ngāti 
Whātua Ōrākei and develop an asset base 
that is sustainable and well protected 
from risk.” Year-on-year, the Board and 
management have worked to deliver growth 
through astute investment initiatives and 
property diversification. 

We are proud of the progress we have made 
to achieve these objectives. 

By any measure, Whai Rawa has been 
extremely successful:

• We have made cash distributions to the 
Trust and Whai Maia of $15.8 million

• We have increased total assets from  
$554 million to $907 million (64%)

• We have increased equity by 97% from 
$315 million to $622 million

• We have contributed well in excess of  
$23 million to housing initiatives

However, while these metrics are 
undeniably impressive, the ambitions 
and outcomes this income has enabled 
the Trust to achieve for the hapū are even 
more significant. 

The income generated by Whai Rawa 
has made a major contribution to social 
outcomes, particularly housing initiatives 
including the award-winning Kāinga Tuatahi 
development and refurbishments in Kupe 
and Kitemoana Streets. 

The balance sheet proves that Whai Rawa is 
continuing to successfully build a solid base 
upon which to secure generational wealth 
for the hapū. 

We are proud to report that 2016 has been 
yet another successful year for Whai Rawa 
and we are delighted to be contributing to 
the ongoing success of the hapū.

SUBSTANTIAL ASSET VALUE GROWTH
Whai Rawa Limited has enjoyed another 
year of strong asset value growth, with 
the total investment portfolio now worth 
$888.6 million, an increase of 22% since FY15. 

While Whai Rawa has benefited from the 
continued strong growth in land values 
across the Tāmaki Isthmus, strategic and 
astute development acumen has driven this 
outcome. Through the strategic acquisition 
of the Navy Lands in 2013, the allocation of 
the portfolio across various property types, 
and strong advocacy around the Auckland 
Unitary Plan process, Whai Rawa has 
maximised the benefits of the strong market 
for the benefit of the hapū. 

STRONG FINANCIAL RESULTS
Net profit before taxation and revaluation 
of investment property of $13.2 million 
(up from $2.7 million in FY15) was a very 
pleasing result. 

The focus of the Board and management 
remains on positioning assets to produce 
steady, sustainable returns for the long 
term. However, Whai Rawa was also able to 
increase profits in FY16 by on-selling three 
properties; an opportunity arising under the 
Whenua Haumi Roroa o Tāmaki Makaurau 
right of first refusal.

Whai Rawa made cash distributions to 
the Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Group (the Trust 
and Whai Maia) of $5.1 million in FY16. In 
addition, a considerable portion of income 
was spent on providing quality housing for 
members – both Kāinga Tuatahi and the 
rental properties in Orākei. 

External debt has increased, primarily due 
to the construction of Kāinga Tuatahi, the 
Orākei housing refurbishment programme 
and the purchase of an additional seven 
Orākei properties.

GROWTH PLATFORM ASSURED 
Whai Rawa’s main focus in the past 12 
months has been on further securing a 
solid platform for growth. That platform 
is increasingly robust due to the strength 
and positive outcome of recent property 
initiatives as noted in the sections above.

In addition, we have successfully negotiated 
a joint venture with Fletcher Residential 
Limited which will see Whai Rawa 
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participating in the first of the Auckland 
Crown Housing Programme projects at 
Moire Road, Massey, as well as responding 
to the first stage of the Tāmaki Regeneration 
development EOI process.

Whai Rawa continues to enhance its 
reputation as a significant property player 
through continued engagement with 
various Auckland Council and government 
departments, and key agencies such as 
KiwiRail, NZTA and Housing New Zealand. 
The strength of these relationships help 
ensure that opportunities are identified 
and Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei’s interests 
are advanced.

NEW AND IMPROVED HOUSING
Improving the living conditions for members 
within Orākei has been a focus of the Ngāti 
Whātua Ōrākei Group over the past three 
years, and we believe that this goal has 
largely been achieved.

The Kāinga Tuatahi development has 
been an ambitious, exciting and fulfilling 
project for Whai Rawa to lead, and we are 
thrilled to see 30 new homes in Orākei. No 
project of this size and scope is without its 
challenges, but the outcomes for the hapū 
make such challenges worthwhile. 

This project has received considerable 
media interest and acclaim and has been 
widely recognised as a leading example of 
medium density development in Auckland. 
At the Property Council of New Zealand 
national awards in June, we were proud to 
receive an Award of Merit.

The housing upgrade programme has 
seen 58 homes significantly improved 
in Kupe Street and 30 Kitemoana Street 
houses are undergoing health and safety 
repairs, including the removal of dangerous 
chimneys and asbestos, the repair of decks 
and the replacement of faulty wiring. 

NURTURING THE PEOPLE
Whai Rawa is dedicated to mentoring 
younger generations of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
keen to gain insight and understanding 
of what we do. Through our internship 
programme, this year we hosted Jerry 
Daniels, Rongorito Wirihana Te Rei, Amalia 
Reweti, Keenan Soa and Jessica Woods-
Waikari. We hope they have enjoyed 
the experience as much as we have 
hosting them.

Whai Rawa also supports the New Zealand 
Institute of Director’s Future Director 
initiative. We have been delighted to 
observe Dane Grey’s progress as Whai 
Rawa’s inaugural future director. Dane’s 
term will conclude in June 2017, at which 
time the Board intends to make a further 
appointment. 

We wish to formally thank two inaugural 
Whai Rawa directors who have recently 
resigned from the Board to take up roles 
working for the wider Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
Group: Rangimarie Hunia (Chief Executive 
of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Maia Limited) 
and Ross Blackmore (Development 
Manager – Commercial) have made a 
huge contribution to the considerable 
achievements of Whai Rawa over the past 
four years. We wish them every success in 
their new roles. 

THE NEXT HORIZON
Given the strong foundation already laid, 
the future for Whai Rawa, and Ngāti Whātua 
Ōrākei, looks bright. We are focused on 
continuing to build the economic and social 
fortunes of the hapū. 

IN CLOSING
Earlier this year, we participated in an 
independent ‘Good Governance Review’. 
The review concluded that Whai Rawa 
Limited directors and management were 
“an A team” with “clearly articulated and 
enacted leadership and a very cohesive 
CEO/Chair/Board dynamic.”

Our thanks are owed to all the directors 
and management team of Whai Rawa for 
their ongoing commitment, hard work and 
enviable results in 2016. 

Mauri ora and Shalom,

MICHAEL STIASSNY & ROB HUTCHISON

NAU TE ROUROU NAKU TE ROUROU  
KA ORA AI  TE IWI

(WITH YOUR BASKET AND MY BASKET, THE PEOPLE WILL THRIVE)
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TRUS T DIREC TORS 

01. PHILLIP TE WAKA DAVIS

Phillip has served two years as Chair of the 
Trust. His passion still remains with te reo 
me ona tikanga, education, and hauora. 
Phillip resides in Orakei with his whānau and 
is a past member of Te Puru o Tāmaki, and 
he will always supported cultural initiatives 
of the Orākei community. As Chair, the need 
to protect the ahi kaa of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
has been one of his on-going priorities.

Director and Chair Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
Trustee Limited

02. MARAMA ROYAL JP

Marama is the eldest daughter of Meiha 
Hawke and was born and raised in Orakei 
attending Orakei School and Queen Victoria 
School in Parnell. Marama is a current 
elected representative on the Ngāti Whātua 
Ōrākei Trust and has held this role since 
2010. She is also a trustee for Ranginui 12 
Trust based in Tauranga. Marama is married 
to Mark and they have two son’s Joseph 
(31) and Mark-James (28) and their baby 
girl Maia-JoAnne (13). They are blessed with 
two beautiful mokopuna, Harmony (10), 
Melody (5) and more blessed with a new 
moko due in November 2016. Marama has 
spent most of her working career in senior 
management positions within government 
and non-government organisations working 
with law and social work. Marama has 
extensive experience in strategic planning, 
relationship management, leadership 
governance and organisational change 
management. Her passion is working 
and supporting people especially her 
whānau whanui. 

Marama loves being around whānau, 
kaumatua and her Marae and is 100% 
committed to working hard and 
achieving all the aspirations of Ngāti 
Whātua Ōrākei whānau. 

Director and Deputy Chair – Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
Trustee Limited / Director Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai 
Maia Limited / Trustee Ranginui NO 12 Trust

03. NGARIMU BLAIR

Ngarimu is a geographer in his other life and 
has worked in the organisation in various 
roles since graduating from the University 
of Auckland in 1998. He was elected to 
the Trust in 2006 and been active across 
many kaupapa. He is the Chair of the Treaty 
Settlement Protection Committee and is 
the Trust’s appointee to Whai Rawa Ltd. He 
has lectured in a number of departments 
across The University of Auckland and AUT 
on Auckland Māori history, planning and 
media issues. He was a foundation Director 
of Waterfront Auckland and currently holds 
board positions for the National Science 
Challenge, North Harbour Rugby Union and 
Chairs a Kohanga Reo in West Auckland. 
Ngarimu is passionate about Auckland 
tribal histories, kaitiakitanga and whānau 
being active in sports.

Member of the Board – North Harbour Rugby Union 
/ Member of the Board – National Science Challenge 
/ Director – Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trustee Limited / 
Director Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Rawa Limited / 
Director Ngā Tira Limited / Director Moffat Reweti 
Blair Limited / Director Pale Blue Dot Community 
Communications Ltd

04. WAYNE PIHEMA

My priority on the trust board is to ensure 
we look after our whānau. This is the only 
reason it exists. I would like the trust’s 
activities, including meetings to be more 
transparent and open to whānau. I would 
like that a greater percentage of the trust’s 
resources are able to impact directly on the 
lives of whānau. 

I am Chairing the Orakei School Board of 
Trustees for a second term, and have served 
on the Whai Maia Board as Chair. I have 
served on the Auckland City Council’s Aotea 
Centre Board. I have a Master of Tourism 
Management and a Post Graduate Diploma 
in Maori Development. I am single and live 
with my three boys, Ilija, Niko and Petar on 
Kitemoana Street near the marae.

Director Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trustee Limited / 
Owner Tetravalent Limited

05. RENATA BLAIR

Renata is a father of three children and 
with his wife Nicola and lives on Kitemoana 
St. He runs a successful events company, 
Evitan which manages music and sports 
events. His company has over 40 staff and 
he employs a number of whānau.

He sees leadership as a key element to 
our success and continued growth. With 
experience in business, he is committed 
towards ensuring we drive returns from 
our assets to invest back into our people. 
A passionate advocate in education, te reo 
and sports he wishes to ensure whānau 
develop skills, experience and qualifications 
to lead successful, healthy lives.

Director Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trustee Limited 
/ Owner Strategic Pathways Limited / Director 
Independent Maori Statutory Board/ Director Tupuna 
Taonga o Tamaki Makau Rau Trust/ Director Ngāti 
Whātua Ōrākei Reserves Board.

02  01  04  03  05  
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06. BRENDA CHRISTIANSEN

Brenda has extensive experience in public 
and private sector Senior Management 
roles in both Australia and New Zealand. 
During this time, she has held positions 
in a number of Community Services, 
focused mainly in the areas of health, 
early childhood and elderly care. She has 
been an HR Manager and Project Manager 
in Corrections Services, where she has 
worked on major projects ranging from I.T 
development through to the opening of new 
prisons and social programs.

Brenda is results driven and her decision 
making is based on risk analysis and taking 
a big-picture view. During her second 
year on the Trust, Brenda has consistently 
challenged the status quo in the search for 
continuous improvement and growth.

Previous roles include HR Manager at AUT 
University, Auckland Airport Ltd and was 
an HR Consultant to Nga Maunga Whakahii 
o Kaipara Trust. She served several terms 
on Otakanini Topu but resigned in this year 
to become Chief Executive Officer for Nga 
Maunga Whakahii.

Director Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trustee Limited / 
Member Nga Maungawhakahii

07. WYLLIS MAIHI

‘United we stand, divided we fall, and if our 
backs should ever be against the wall, we’ll 
be together, together you and I’.

Kia ora e te whānau. One of my favourite 
memories as a kid was playing softball with 
the whānau at North Shore. We went as 
one, we played as one and sang as one. One 
of my favourite songs from that time was 
the one above.

I still believe in the message of the song, 
that together we can achieve more. Whether 
it's at the NW Trust or Komiti Marae, my goal 
is to give back, to work collectively for the 
betterment of our hapū. I’ve learnt that to 
criticize is easy, but it is important to take 
the next step, to find answers together. Our 
true wealth is in our people.

Puritia tō mana, kia piki tonu ake. 

Director Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trustee Limited

08. JOE PIHEMA

Kei aku whanaunga, he mihi mahana tēnei 
ki a koutou katoa. Joe is grateful to be 
serving his people and tupuna at a hapū 
governance level. Having spent the last 20 
years working in the education and heritage 
sectors, he believes cultural capacity is 
essential to any future social, economic 
and hapū growth. Joe is pleased the new 
Strategic Plan has a stronger focus on 
whānau with the overarching aim being for 
them to thrive and flourish. The next 2-3 
years will see a range of initiatives unveiled 
which will allow this to happen.

His wife is Huia Pihema from Te Aitanga-
a-Māhaki and they have 3 tamariki; Tahua, 
Raana and Tuperiri.

Director Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trustee Limited / 
Managing Director Kiwa Education Trust 

09. RANGIMARIE HUNIA

Rangimarie Hunia is a Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
member and was raised in Orākei, where 
she continues to live with her whānau.

Her professional experience includes 
developing social and educational initiatives 
for the benefit of the hapū as well as other 
groups within the wider Community.

After 3 years of service and dedication on 
the Whai Rawa Board, Rangimarie resigned 
from the Board in July 2016 to take up the 
role of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Maia 
Limited Chief Executive.

07  08  09  06  
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WHAI MAIA DIREC TORS  

LOPE GINNEN LLB 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 
CHAIRPERSON

Lope is a barrister specialising in family law 
and is regularly appointed by the Family 
Court as lawyer for child and counsel 
to assist the Court. She balances family 
law practice with corporate governance 
work. She is a trustee of the Brainwave 
Trust, a charity that raises awareness of 
brain research about the impact of early 
experiences on infant brain development; 
and a trustee of Emerge Aotearoa, which 
provides a wide range of community-based 
mental health, addiction, disability support 
and social housing services nationwide. 
She is a director of Vaka Tautua, a national 
“by Pacific for Pacific” health support 
service provider. She is a member of the 
Community Advisory Group of the Alcohol 
and Other Drug Treatment Courts and a 
member of the Independent Advisory Group 
of Precision Driven Health, a multi-million-
dollar public-private research partnership 
aimed at improving health outcomes 
through data science. Lope has previously 
been a director on the boards of Housing 
New Zealand Corporation, Hobsonville Land 
Company and Counties Manukau District 
Health Board. Lope is of Samoan and 
Pakeha descent, and is married with two 
children and an adult stepdaughter.

DONNA TAMAARIKI 
WHĀNAU DIRECTOR

Donna is the daughter of Tamaiti and 
Alice Tamaariki. She has worked in the 
area of health, community and cultural 
development for more than 20 years. 
Donna is a Director/consultant for Kaitiaki 
Enterprises Ltd, a small family owned 
business that provides bespoke cultural 
learning and development programmes, 
including Waka experiences on the 
Waitemata. More recently, Donna has been 
developing and delivering diversity and 
inclusiveness training programmes for the 
corporate sector. She has a Diploma in 
Adult Education and is soon to complete a 
Masters in Applied Indigenous Knowledge, 
with Te Wananga o Aotearoa. Donna is also 
the sole director of the Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
Health Clinic companies.

MARAMA ROYAL 
TRUST REPRESENTATIVE

Marama is the eldest daughter of Meiha 
Hawke and was born and raised in Orakei 
attending Orakei School and Queen 
Victoria School in Parnell. Marama is a 
current the Deputy Chair, and an elected 
representative on the Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
Trust and has held this role since 2010. 
She is also a trustee for Ranginui 12 Trust 
and a director for Te Awanui Huka Pak 
based in Tauranga. Marama is married to 
Mark and recently they celebrated their 
30th wedding anniversary. They have 2 
son's Joseph (30) and Mark-James (27) 
and their baby girl Maia-JoAnne (12). They 
are blessed with two beautiful mokopuna, 
Harmony (8) and Melody (4). Marama has 
spent most of her working career in senior 
management positions within government 
and non-government organisations and has 
extensive experience in strategic planning, 
relationship management, leadership and 
organisational change management. Her 
passion is working and supporting people 
especially her whānau whanui. Marama 
loves being around whānau, kaumatua and 
her Marae and is committed to working 
toward and achieving all the aspirations of 
Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei whānau.
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WHAI R AWA DIREC TORS  

01. MICHAEL STIASSNY 
CHAIRMAN, INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

Michael Stiassny is one of New Zealand’s most 
respected directors and his passion for Ngāti Whātua 
Ōrākei goes well beyond his position as Chair. Michael 
says his motivation is simple – to bring about positive 
and lasting change for the hapū. 

Chairman since 2013, Michael’s influence on Whai 
Rawa has led to both growth for the company and the 
professional development of his fellow directors. A key 
focus for Michael has been the need to prepare Whai 
Rawa for succession. 

A Fellow of Institute of Directors (FInstD) and the 
current President of that organisation, he has been the 
senior partner of KordaMentha in Auckland since 1990. 

A Chartered Accountant and lawyer, Michael is a 
director for a number of public and private companies 
and is the current Chairman of Vector Limited and 
Tower Limited. 

02. NGARIMU BLAIR 
TRUSTEE REPRESENTATIVE DIRECTOR 

Named the Inaugural Emerging Māori Business Leader 
by the Auckland University’s Business School, Ngarimu 
Blair is the Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trust representative 
for Whai Rawa. He was described by the University 
as having a “strong vision, humility, and inclusive 
management and governance skills”. 

A geographer, with over 15 years’ experience in 
advancing a range of iwi issues in Auckland City, 
he is regularly called upon by the media and 
political influencers.

Ngarimu is also on the Board of the 11th National 
Science Challenge and North Harbour Rugby Union.

03. JOANN PRECIOUS CLARK  
WHĀNAU DIRECTOR 

Precious has a legal policy background, and has 
firmly established herself in the Auckland business 
and philanthropic communities. She is a Director 
of the Centre for Social Impact, a member of the 
Independent Māori Statutory Board, a Trustee of 
Foundation North and the Deputy Chair of Auckland 
Museum Taumata- a-Iwi. In 2015 Precious completed 
the Global Women’s Breakthrough Leadership 
programme. 

Precious is passionate about making a positive 
contribution towards the development of Ngāti 
Whātua Ōrākei. 

04. SIR ROBERT GEORGE MAPPIN FENWICK 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

Sir Rob Fenwick is an experienced businessman 
and company director with interests closely 
aligned to promoting sustainable development. 
He is a long-standing member of the Institute of 
Directors, a founder of the New Zealand Sustainable 
Business Council and has held a number of key 
governance roles. 

In 2016, Rob became a Knight Companion of the 
New Zealand Order of Merit for services to the 
environment, and was also one of 3 finalists for 
New Zealander of the Year. This followed on from 
his recognition in 2015 as the recipient of the Sir 
Peter Blake Medal for his outstanding leadership 
contribution to New Zealand. 

Rob has a strong connection with the Hauraki 
Gulf, being a former Chairman of Motutapu Island 
Restoration Trust and an advocate for Te Matuku Bay 
Marine Reserve, where he operates a successful  
oyster farm.

05. RANGIMARIE HUNIA 
WHĀNAU DIRECTOR 

Rangimarie Hunia is a Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei member 
and was raised in Orākei, where she continues to live 
with her whānau. 

Her professional experience includes developing social 
and educational initiatives for the benefit of the hapū 
as well as other groups within the wider community. 

After 3 years of service and dedication on the Whai 
Rawa Board, Rangimarie resigned from the Board in 
July 2016 to take up the role of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 
Whai Maia Limited Chief Executive.

06. ROSS BLACKMORE 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

Ross Blackmore is an experienced commercial 
property practitioner. During his 30 year career, he has 
been involved in many facets of commercial property 
including valuations, development, investment and 
listed property investment company management. 

Ross resigned from the Board in August 2016 to take 
up a role as Development Manager – Commercial with 
Whai Rawa. 
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KIA TŪ A NGĀTI  WHĀTUA 

ŌRĀKEI  I  RUNGA 

I  TŌNA ANŌ TINO 

RANGATIRATANGA
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01: MOIRE RD SOD TURNING OCTOBER 2016 

02: HILLARY BLOCK CONCEPT, NORTH SHORE 

03: KĀINGA TUATAHI DEVELOPMENT (INTERIOR) 

04: KĀINGA TUATAHI DEVELOPMENT (EXTERIOR) 

05: HILLARY BLOCK CONCEPT, NORTH SHORE
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MEETING AT TENDEES TABLE  
(ALL THREE BOARDS)

MEETINGS ATTENDED TOTAL

Phillip Davis 11

Marama Royal 12

Ngarimu Blair 10

Rangimarie Hunia *# 11

Renata Blair 10

Brenda Christiansen 10

Wayne Pihema 12

Margaret Kawharu # 5

Rangimarie Rawiri # 6

Grant Pakihana Hawke # , ** 4

Joe Pihema * 5

Wyllis Maihi * 4

Key: # - not re-elected; * new member, *# Resigned, ** replaced 
member

OUR ELECTED REPRESENTATIVES: 
Phillip Davis (Chairman), Marama Royal (Deputy Chair),  
Ngarimu Blair, Renata Blair, Brenda Christiansen,  
Grant Hawke, Wyllis Maihi, Joe Pihema and Wayne Pihema 

NGĀTI WHĀTUA ŌRĀKEI – WHAI RAWA 
MEETINGS ATTENDED
(out of a total of 10)

MEETINGS ATTENDED TOTAL

Michael Stiassny 10

Ross Blackmore 10

Ngarimu Blair 10

Precious Clark 9

Rob Fenwick 10

Rangimarie Hunia 10

MEETING ATTENDEES TABLE

WML DIRECTORS – ATTENDANCE
July 15 – June 2016

MEETINGS ATTENDED TOTAL
(OUT OF 12)

Peter Drummond (Resigned 31 August 2015) 2

Wayne Pihema 12

Donna Tamariki 11

Lope Ginnen 12

Marama Royal 11

NGĀTI WHĀTUA ŌRĀKEI TRUST MEMBERS REMUNERATION
July 15 – June 2016

NAME TERM  GROSS STD 
FEES 

Phillip Davis July 2015 – June 2016  $69,996.00 

Marama Royal July 2015 – June 2016  $43,347.03 

Ngarimu Blair July 2015 – June 2016  $45,819.91 

Brenda Christiansen July 2015 – June 2016  $35,000.04 

Wayne Pihema July 2015 – June 2016  $35,000.04 

Renata Blair July 2015 – June 2016  $35,000.04 

Rangimarie Hunia July 2015 – June 2016  $35,000.04 

Rangimarie Rawiri July 2015 – November 2015  $14,583.35 

Grant Hawke July 2015 – November 2015  $16,557.77 

Margaret Kawharu July 2015 – November 2015  $14,583.35 

Wyllis Maihi December 2015 – June 2016  $20,416.69 

Joe Pihema December 2015 – June 2016  $20,416.69 

 $385,720.95
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FINANCIALS.
3 0  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

3 1   C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T  
O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E

3 2   C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T  
O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y

3 3   C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T  
O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

3 4   C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T  
O F  C A S H F L O W

3 5  N O T E S  T O  T H E  A C C O U N T S

4 0   N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  
S TAT E M E N T S

5 2  A U D I T  R E P O R T

I B C  D I R E C T O R Y
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Annual Report
The Trustees hereby present their Report including Financial Statements  
of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2016.

For and on behalf of trustees:

Trustee:    Phillip Te Waka Davis 

Trustee:    Marama Royal

Date:     29-09-2016
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2016

NOTE 2016
$

2015
$

Revenue

Interest and Dividend Revenue  139,706  81,456 

Property Rental Revenue  25,911,623  21,730,447 

Retirement Village Revenue  5,023,737  6,156,346 

Sales  18,283,177  – 

Consulting Revenue  2,138,912  1,617,311 

Government Revenue  4,420,075  4,246,147 

Events Revenue  148,810  350,140 

Other 4  584,895  520,330 

Total Revenue  56,650,935  34,702,177 

Expenses

Employee Benefits Expense 5  11,689,567  11,078,389 

Governance 5  1,038,799  1,154,318 

Finance Costs 5  6,828,904  7,397,124 

Grants and Programmes 5  666,090  922,443 

Retirement Village Service Expense  2,214,408  1,947,989 

Professional Fees 5  2,962,629  2,903,669 

Rental Property Expense  3,993,441  4,158,153 

Other Expenses 5  3,039,367  2,692,574 

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense  518,560  434,652 

Cost of Sales  12,524,098  – 

Event Expenses  218,936  385,976 

Impairment of Inventories 7  241,276  1,120,302 

Total Expenses  45,936,075  34,195,589 

Net Profit before Taxation and Revaluation of Investment Property  10,714,860  506,588 

Loss on Demolition  (34,075)  (106,153)

Gain on Revaluation of Investment Property 8  157,416,649  71,031,799 

Net Profit before taxation  168,097,434  71,432,234 

Income Tax Expense 9  3,967,726  442,369 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  164,129,708  70,989,865 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with notes to the financial statements on page 35 to page 51.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

2016
$

2015
$

At 1 July 2015  552,735,557  481,745,692 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  164,129,708  70,989,865 

Distributions  (79,700) – 

At 30 June 2016  716,785,565  552,735,557 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with notes to the financial statements on page 35 to page 51.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2016

NOTE 2016
$

2015
$

Equity  716,785,565  552,735,557 

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 10  2,977,972  4,861,217 

Trade and Other Receivables 11  4,420,670  2,814,383 

Housing Loans  128,265 – 

Work In Progress –  28,298 

Inventories 7  7,932,213  5,688,524 

Total Current Assets  15,459,120  13,392,422 

Non Current Assets

Investment in Joint Venture  17,000  7,000 

Deposit on Investment Property  276,600  756,222 

Investment Property 8  890,498,520  725,107,671 

Property, Plant and Equipment 6  27,989,763  27,861,804 

Housing Loans  4,564,113 – 

Intangible Assets 13  39,903  31,265 

Total Non Current Assets  923,385,899  753,763,962 

Total Assets  938,845,019  767,156,384 

Current Liabilities

Tax Payable  1,179,699  126,802 

Trade and Other Payables 14  7,954,291  8,144,951 

Employee Benefits 15  1,279,367  1,305,365 

Refundable Occupation Right Agreements 16  46,734,149  47,800,941 

Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings 17  321,212  796,791 

Income in Advance  355,721  824,966 

Total Current Liabilities  57,824,439  58,999,816 

Non Current Liabilities

Deferred Tax Liability 18  3,139,793  2,988,564 

Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings 17  160,734,494  151,848,432 

Income in Advance  360,728  584,015 

Total Non Current Liabilities  164,235,015  155,421,011 

Total Liabilities  222,059,454  214,420,827 

TOTAL NET ASSETS  716,785,565  552,735,557

This statement is to be read in conjunction with notes to the financial statements on page 35 to page 51.  
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Consolidated Statement of Cashflow
For the year ended 30 June 2016

NOTE 2016
$

2015
$

Cash flows from Operating Activities

Cash was provided from:

Interest and Dividend Revenue  224,783  105,577 

Funding from Customers  8,960,733  7,163,791 

Property Rental Revenue  23,133,675  25,229,923 

Retirement Village Revenue  12,490,030  14,113,519 

Sales  17,760,192  – 

Other  93,844  73,681 

Cash was disbursed to:

Payments to Suppliers  23,401,754  23,986,536 

Payments to Employees  11,753,261  10,642,433 

Payments for Inventory  15,917,863  5,387,242 

Interest Paid  7,336,562  8,571,329 

Income Tax Paid  2,835,685  1,923,712 

Housing Loans Advanced  4,914,893  – 

Net Cash flows from Operating Activities 19  (3,496,761)  (3,824,761)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash was provided from:

Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment  145,111  5,811 

Investment Property Sales  –  289,000 

Cash was disbursed to:

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment  339,592  301,664 

Purchase of Intangible Assets  28,000  34,287 

Investment Property  6,960,365  69,656,828 

Investment in Joint Venture  10,000  7,000 

Net Cash flows from Investing Activities  (7,192,846)  (69,704,968)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash was provided from:

Proceeds from borrowings  8,886,062  147,794,083 

Cash was disbursed to:

Repayment of Borrowings  –  80,196,791 

Distributions  79,700  – 

Net Cash flows from Financing Activities  8,806,362  67,597,292 

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash Held  (1,883,245)  (5,932,437)

Cash at beginning of the year  4,861,217  10,793,654 

Total Cash at end of the year 10  2,977,972  4,861,217

This statement is to be read in conjunction with notes to the financial statements on page 35 to page 51.
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Notes to the Accounts

1. General Information
REPORTING ENTITY
As part of the Treaty Settlement process Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei was required to 
establish a new post settlement governance entity per legislation, and as 
such established the Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trust (“Trust”). 

For accounting purposes the Trust is treated as the continuing entity of the 
previous Ngāti Whātua o Ōrākei Maori Trust Board.

The requirement for a new post settlement governance entity has provided 
an opportunity for the Trust Board to restructure its current asset base into 
a more efficient group structure.

Accordingly, Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trust transferred on 25 January 2013 
commercial and community interests to Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Rawa 
Limited and Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Maia Limited.

Limited Partnerships have been established under Whai Rawa to receive the 
various commercial interests. The business known as “Eastcliffe on Orakei”, 
formerly administered by Orakei Retirement Care Limited and Orakei 
Management Services Limited, has been transferred to Eastcliffe Orakei 
Retirement Care Limited Partnership and Eastcliffe Orakei Management 
Services Limited Partnership.

Other commercial assets and liabilities have been transferred to Whai Rawa 
Railway Lands Limited Partnership, Whai Rawa Property Holdings Limited 
Partnership, Whai Rawa Residential Properties Limited Partnership and Whai 
Rawa Tamaki Limited Partnership on 25 January 2013.

The Trust's strategic plan has 5 strategic priorities:

1) WHANAU
E Wha Nga Mana Nau. There are four types of mana one has access to – 
mana atua, mana whenua, mana tangata, and mana motuhake.

2) KOTAHITANGA
Whatua Heru Hapai

It is our Te Taou. Nga Oho and Te Uringutu heritage that defines our essence 
and how we relate to each other. Knowing, understanding and being confident 
in one's identity is essential in building one's self esteem and self worth. 
We cannot rely on the Crown to transmit our knowledge – it is up to us!

3) WHENUA
Te Toi Whenua

Our lands have suffered due to alienation and urbanisation and along with it, 
the health of our people. It is our obligation as kaitiaki and mana whenua to 
restore the mauri of our lands, air and waterways and thereby restore the 
health of our people and those that reside there.

4) WHAI MAIA
Ma Te Tokomaha Ka Ka Te Ahi

The Trust recognises the importance of high performance and efficiency, and 
will continue to strengthen its governance, management and administrative 
capabilities.

5) WHAI RAWA
Tamaki, Kainga Ika Me Nga Wheua Katoa

The Board recognises that it must protect and responsibly grow the wealth 
of the hapu in order to sufficiently fund its social and cultural development 
programmes. Investments shall not conflict with our cultural values. The 
Board aims to increase the financial literacy and wealth of whanau over time 
as a key method to address social inequalities. There will be a focus on giving 
a hand up rather than a hand out.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (“NZ GAAP”). They 
comply with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“NZ IFRS”), and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards, 
as appropriate for profit-oriented entities. The group is eligible for and has 
elected to report in accordance with Tier 2 For-Profit Accounting Standards. 
The group is eligible for Tier 2 For-Profit Accounting Standards as it is not 
publicly accountable and is a profit orientated entity.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements comprise of: Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of 
Cashflow, and the notes to these statements.

The measurement base is historical cost except for the revaluation of certain 
assets as identified in this statement of accounting policies.

The accrual basis of accounting has been used unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars ($), which is 
the functional currency of the Group. All figures are rounded to the nearest 
whole dollar.

2. Accounting Policies
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these financial statements, and have been applied 
consistently by Group entities.

COMPARATIVES
Certain comparatives have been restated where needed to conform to 
current year classification and presentation.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous 
financial year. None of the new and amended New Zealand Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards and interpretations adopted as 
of 1 July 2015 had any impact on the Group.

The Group has elected not to early adopt any NZ IFRS standards, nor has the 
impact of adopting these standards been assessed.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are for the legal entity 
comprising Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trust (“Trust”) and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries. The Trust entity is a profit-oriented entity for financial reporting 
purposes.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities 
of all subsidiaries of the Trust as at 30 June 2016 and the results of those 
entities for that period. The Trust and its wholly owned subsidiaries are referred 
to in these financial statements as the Group or the consolidated entity.

All wholly owned subsidiaries have the same balance date as the Trust, and 
apply consistent accounting policies.

In preparing the consolidated Group financial statements, all inter-entity 
balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and loss resulting 
from intra-group transactions have been eliminated.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)
The Group consists of the following entities:

SUBSIDIARIES

Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Rawa Limited Manage Whai Rawa entities strategy and operations

Corporate Property Investments Limited Historical interests associated with property joint ventures

Eastcliffe Ōrākei Retirement Care Limited Partnership To manage development of the Eastcliffe Ōrākei retirement village and aged care facility at Orakei

Eastcliffe Ōrākei Management Services Limited Partnership To manage operations of the Eastcliffe Ōrākei retirement village and aged care facility at Orakei

Whai Rawa Railway Lands Limited Partnership To manage the commercial assets known as the Railway Lands and Quay Park in the Auckland CBD

Whai Rawa Commercial Office Limited Partnership To manage commercial office assets

Whai Rawa Railway Leasing Limited Partnership To manage commercial assets incidental to ownership of assets known as Railways Lands and 
Quay Park in the Auckland CBD

Whai Rawa Property Holdings Limited Partnership To manage the other various commercial assets including those received in settlement

Whai Rawa Residential Properties Limited Partnership To manage the residential property assets

Whai Rawa Housing Limited Partnership To manage the development of the Kāinga Tuatahi project

Whai Rawa Kāinga Development Limited To construct Kāinga Tuatahi

Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Housing Trust A discretionary trust settled by Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Rawa Limited

Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Housing Trustee Limited Trustee of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Housing Trust

Whai Rawa Collective Holdings Limited Partnership To manage any assets acquired or development undertaken in connection with Whenua Haumi 
Roroa o Tāmaki Makaurau

Whai Rawa Development Limited Partnership To undertake property development projects

Ngāti Whātua o Ōrākei Health Clinic Limited Provide general health services and facilities for the people of Tamaki Makaurau

Ōrākei Health Services Limited Provide general health services and facilities for the people of Tamaki Makaurau

Ngāti Whātua o Ōrākei Health and Social Needs Limited To manage the Puna Reo

Whai Maia Charitable Trust 1 To manage the cultural and social development of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei iwi

Whai Maia Charitable Trust 2 To manage the cultural and social development of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei iwi

SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Trust. Control exists when the 
Trust has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date control commences until the date that 
control ceases. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions 
between subsidiary companies are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the 
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and short-term deposits in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position comprise cash at bank, in hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less plus bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as current liabilities within short-term borrowings.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at cost, less an allowance 
for impairment. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis at an 
operating unit level. Individual debts that are known to be uncollectable are 
written off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised when 
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the 
receivable. Financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments or debts 
more than 60 days overdue are considered objective evidence of impairment. 
The amount of the impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount 
compared to the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment includes non-commercial assets; land, 
buildings, leasehold improvements, office furniture and fittings, motor 
vehicles and heritage assets. This property, plant and equipment is held 
mainly for social and/or cultural purposes.
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Subsequent additions are recorded at cost. The Kaumatua Units, Puna Reo 
Early Childhood School and Health Clinic buildings are recorded at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Realised gains and losses arising from the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the period in which the transaction occurs.

HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage assets arise from previous gifts to the Board and were initially 
valued in accordance with NZ IAS 16, at estimated replacement cost at the 
time of gifting less accumulated depreciation, which is an approximation of 
deemed historical cost.

DEPRECIATION
Depreciation is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Performance on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each 
part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful life. Land is 
not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods 
are as follows:

 Expected useful life

Heritage assets 200 years

Infrastructure 200 years

Buildings 5-50 years

Plant & Equipment 5-10 years

Leasehold Improvements 5 years

Motor Vehicles 5 years

Office Equipment 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed 
at the reporting date.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with 
finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 
The amortisation method and the useful lives are reviewed at least at the end 
of each reporting period.

The estimated useful lives and the amortisation method for the current 
period are as follows:

 Expected useful life Amortisation method

Software  2.5 years Straight-line

SOCIAL ASSETS
Social Assets are assets which are of cultural significance or are used for the 
benefit of the hapu. Social Assets are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

GOODS AND SERVICES TAX
These financial statements have been prepared on a GST exclusive basis with 
the exception of accounts receivable and accounts payable which are shown 
inclusive of GST.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and Other Payables are carried at cost and due to their short term 
nature they are not discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are 
unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments 
in respect of these goods and services. These amounts are unsecured and are 
usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present obligation  
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
The employee entitlements to salaries and wages and annual leave are 
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income when 
they accrue to employees. Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non 
monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Expenses for 
non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are 
measured at the rates paid or payable.

Annual leave has been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for 
capital appreciation or for both. Investment properties are measured initially 
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are stated at fair value, which is determined by an 
independent registered valuer and adjusted if necessary, for any difference in 
the nature, location or condition of the specific asset at the balance date, 
including the impact of prepaid rental streams recognised as a liability at 
balance date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of 
investment properties are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year in which they arise.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV). 
NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimate costs necessary to make the 
sale. Estimates of NRV are based on the most recent evidence available at 
the time the estimates are made. Cost includes the costs of acquisition, 
planning and design, development and capitalised borrowing costs. 
Feasibility costs incurred before the purchase of an asset are expensed as 
incurred, as are holding costs, holding income, marketing and advertising 
costs. Interest charges on deferred settlement are recognised in expenses in 
the period of the deferred settlement.
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LEASED ASSETS
Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition 
the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting 
policy applicable to that asset.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income over the lease term as an integral part of the total 
lease expense.

LEASES
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based 
on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether 
the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset 
or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Group as a lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability when received 
and subsequently reduced by allocating lease payments between rental 
expense and reduction of the liability.

Group as a lessor

Leases in which the Group retains substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the leased asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are recognised as an expense 
in the reporting period.

The Group has significant prepaid lease arrangements whereby revenue is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the prepaid lease. 
Where the period of the prepayment exceeds 90 years, and the Group has in 
substance no further ownership rights (via contractual terms post the initial 
lease period), the transaction is treated as an effective sale of the asset and 
the prepayment is recorded as revenue on the date of receipt.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group conducts an annual internal review of asset values, which is used 
as a source of information to assess for any indicators of impairment. 
External factors, such as changes in expected future processes, technology 
and economic conditions, are also monitored to assess for indicators of 
impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount is calculated.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 
suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the impairment 
may have reversed.

2. Accounting Policies (continued) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Trust’s capital is its equity, which comprise retained surpluses/(losses) 
and other reserves. Equity is represented by net assets. The Trust manages 
its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments and general financial 
dealings prudently. The objective of managing the Trust’s equity is to ensure 
that the Trust effectively achieves its objectives and purpose, whilst 
remaining a going concern.

INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
All loans and borrowing are initially recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at cost as these loans and borrowings are from 
registered banks, the interest rates are deemed to be at fair value. Fees paid 
on the establishment of loan facilities that are yield related are included as 
part of the carrying amount of the loans and borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the balance date.

REFUNDABLE OCCUPATION RIGHT AGREEMENTS
Occupation right agreements utilised by the Group in connection with the 
Eastcliffe Orakei Retirement Village confer the right of occupancy of the 
independent unit/apartment, serviced apartment and studios until such time 
as the occupancy rights are repurchased. Settlement of the refundable 
occupational right agreement only occurs when a new occupational right 
agreement is issued to an incoming resident of the village.

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits 
will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The 
following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue 
is recognised:

(i) Rendering of services

Rendering of services (consulting) are recognised in the accounting period in 
which the services are rendered.

(ii) Interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest 
method.

(iii) Government Grants

Government grants are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position as a liability when the grant is receivable and is recorded through the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income when all the conditions 
are met.

(iv) Dividends

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment 
is established.

(v) Rental revenue

Rental revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Rental income from prepaid leases are amortised on a straight line basis over 
the lease term. Any sale of leasehold interests with a prepayment term 
exceeding 90 years, where the Group has in substance no further ownership 
rights (via contractual terms post the initial lease period), will be recognised 
as a sale in the year that it is settled.
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(vi) Retirement village income

Rendering of services fee include retirement village outgoings and service 
fees. The residents pay a weekly fee which covers the cost of a proportion of 
the village outgoings and service provided incurred by the operator in the 
operation of the village. The village outgoings and services charges recovered 
is recognised as revenue on a monthly basis.

Village Contribution fee is a fee payable by all the residents living in 
independent units/apartments, serviced apartments and studios for the right 
to use the common facilities. The Village Contribution fee is recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income over the average expected 
length of stay of residents, which is 8.44 years for the independent units/
apartments, 3.84 years for the serviced apartments and care studios. 

INCOME TAX 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense 
is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in 
which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and 
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the 
initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that they probably 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which temporary difference can be 
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised.

The Group and parent became a tax paying entity on the 1 February 2013. 
Any income or expenses prior to this period are non taxable. Group tax is 
paid by the Trust and Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Whai Rawa Limited.

3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in 
the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements 
and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue 
and expenses. Management bases its judgements and estimates on historical 
experience and on other various factors it believes to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of the carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions 
and conditions.

Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for 
which significant judgements, estimates and assumptions are made. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and 
conditions and may materially affect financial results or the financial position 
reported in future periods.

Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be 
found in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
The Group considers that, even though land has an indefinite useful life, 
where land is subject to a lease pursuant to which the prepayment term 
exceeding 90 years, and where the Group has in substance no further 
ownership rights (via contractual terms post the initial lease period), this 
effectively removes the risks and rewards of ownership. Consequently the 
Group considers it appropriate to recognise any prepaid lease arrangement 
with a term exceeding 90 years, as a sale in the year that it is settled.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV). The 
NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and selling costs. Where there is an 
agreement as to the future selling price this is used to estimate the NRV. 
Where this is not the case NRV is estimated by senior management based on 
market knowledge.

RETIREMENT VILLAGE INCOME
Village contribution is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated period of service. This requires Management to estimate the 
period of occupancy for retirement village units. Management’s estimate is 
based on actuarial and related probability information provided by the 
independent valuer in estimating occupancy periods. 

SOCIAL ASSETS
These assets are utilised to fulfil cultural and social objectives of the Group. 
The maximisation of profit is not an objective. Significant social assets 
comprise papakainga housing at Orakei on Kitemoana and Kupe Streets. 
These land and building assets are used largely by the Group’s beneficiaries 
and rents are received largely to meet or defray administration costs. The 
Group’s intention is not to develop these assets further and that they remain 
only for the continued purpose of beneficiary papakainga housing. As it is not 
the Group’s intention to maximise financial profits on these assets it 
considers that market value would not be appropriate as the carrying value, 
therefore these assets are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.
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 4. Other Revenue

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Patient Fees  210,655  206,269 

Puna Reo Income  183,218  195,011 

Rates Reimbursement  –  39,659 

Sundry Income  173,129  63,962 

Koha  13,918  1,146 

Insurance Payout  3,975  14,283 

 584,895  520,330
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5. Operating Expenses 

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Employee Benefits Expense

Wages and Salaries  11,195,521  10,714,943 

KiwiSaver Contribution  224,675  187,061 

Staff Uniforms  10,821  8,988 

Staff Training  40,657  26,401 

Fringe Benefit Expense  18,973  14,761 

Other Employee Benefits Expense  198,920  126,235 

 11,689,567  11,078,389 

Governance

Directors Fees  992,776  1,149,301 

Directors Expenses  46,023  5,017 

 1,038,799  1,154,318 

Finance costs

Interest Expense  5,886,484  6,937,083 

Bank and Line Fees  942,420  460,041 

 6,828,904  7,397,124 

Grants and Programmes

Education  360,251  396,974 

Pharmacy  28,401  29,315 

Kaumatua  75,814  76,563 

Te Reo/Cultural Programmes  58,322  51,384 

Mai Whanau  46,059  246,698 

Sports Grants and Events  7,018  12,085 

Other  90,225  109,424 

 666,090  922,443 

Professional Fees

Accounting Fees  109,221  160,002 

Legal Fees  1,109,940  1,314,113 

Valuations  140,658  133,608 

Other Professional Fees  1,602,810  1,295,946 

 2,962,629  2,903,669 

Other expenses

Doubtful Debts  22,052  (10,671)

Office Expenses  1,337,715  1,128,898 

Leases - operating  5,488  9,642 

Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets  16,764  – 

Communication Expenses  774,075  670,482 

Motor Vehicle/Travel Expenses  181,330  162,276 

Recruitment Expenses  58,643  171,636 

Other  643,300  560,311 

3,039,367 2,692,574
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment

OFFICE 
FURNITURE

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT

MOTOR  
VEHICLES

HERITAGE 
ASSETS LAND BUILDINGS LEASEHOLD 

IMPROVEMENT
INFRA- 

STRUCTURE TOTAL

At 1 July 2015  201,766  479,521  43,044  81,297  21,621,658  5,168,135  266,383 –  27,861,804 

Disposals – – – – –  (200,574) – –  (200,574)

Additions  225,781  52,054  55,123 – –  185,435 – –  518,393 

Transfer from Work in Progress – – – – – – –  302,840  302,840 

Depreciation Charge  (145,718)  (121,127)  (28,427) – –  (175,779)  (21,018)  (631)  (492,700)

At 30 June 2016  281,829  410,448  69,740  81,297  21,621,658  4,977,217  245,365  302,209  27,989,763 

Cost  1,147,387  2,150,405  432,375  88,000  21,621,658  7,950,346  804,133  302,840  34,497,144 

Accumulated Depreciation  (865,558)  (1,739,957)  (362,635)  (6,703) –  (2,973,129)  (558,768)  (631)  (6,507,381)

Net Book Value 30 June 2016  281,829  410,448  69,740  81,297  21,621,658  4,977,217  245,365  302,209  27,989,763 

Cost  921,606  2,098,351  377,252  88,000  21,621,658  7,965,485  804,133 –  33,876,485 

Accumulated Depreciation  (719,840)  (1,618,830)  (334,208)  (6,703)  –  (2,797,350)  (537,750) –  (6,014,681)

Net Book Value 30 June 2015  201,766  479,521  43,044  81,297  21,621,658  5,168,135  266,383 –  27,861,804

7. Inventories

CLASSIFICATION OF INVENTORIES
HELD AT COST OR 
NET REALISABLE 
VALUE (NRV)

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Work in Progress – Kāinga Tuatahi NRV  7,708,151  4,005,887 

Work in Progress – Stormwater Improvements Cost  – 302,840

Land and Buildings held for resale Cost  – 1,163,890

Finished Goods Cost  115,709  107,554 

Other Cost  108,353  108,353 

Total Inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value  7,932,213  5,688,524

An impairment of inventories of $241,276 was recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (2015: $1,120,302). 
This recognises the difference between the estimated total project cost for Kāinga Tuatahi and the net realisable value from the project on completion. 

Storm water improvements have been completed and transferred to Property, Plant and Equipment.

There is no Inventory pledged as security for Group borrowing facilities (2015: $288,227).
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8. Investment Property

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

At Beginning of Year 725,107,671  583,462,521 

Net Gain from Fair Value Adjustment 157,416,649  71,031,799 

Acquisition of Investment Property 7,566,068  68,232,877 

Capital Expenditure (2,051)  – 

Disposals  –  (289,000)

Net (Loss)/Gain due to Eastcliffe Units sold  –  1,267,622 

Movement in rent accrued on Fixed Uplift Leases and Lease Incentives 410,183  1,401,852 

Closing Balance as at 30 June 890,498,520  725,107,671

Investment properties are carried at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations performed by Jones Lang Lasalle Limited, CBRE Limited, 
Urban Value Limited and Darroch Limited of Auckland as at 30 June 2016. 

The fair value represents the amount at which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller in an 
arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation, in accordance with New Zealand Valuation Standards. In determining fair value, the expected net cash flows 
applicable to each property have been discounted to their present value using a market determined, risk adjusted discount rate applicable to the respective 
asset. For financial reporting purposes, the independent valuation is adjusted to include the impact of prepaid rental streams and the refundable occupation 
right agreements that are recognised as liabilities at balance date.

The valuation of the investment property is grossed up for prepaid leases and cash flows relating to resident refundable occupation rights agreements. 
Reconciliation between the independent valuation and the amount recognised on the balance sheet as investment property is as follows:

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Independent valuation of investment properties  838,109,000  671,559,000 

Prepaid lease value  562,036  1,141,275 

Refundable occupation right agreements  46,734,149  47,800,941 

Termination Fees in Advance  5,093,335  4,606,455 

Total Investment Property  890,498,520  725,107,671

There were no finance costs capitalised to the investment property during the year.

A Memorandum of Encumbrance in favour of the statutory supervisor, Covenant Trustee Company Limited, is registered against the leasehold land to secure the 
obligations of the company to the residents of the retirement village.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year of retirement or disposal.

The Group fair values its investment properties by way of the following fair value measurement hierarchy levels:

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly 
(derived from prices);

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

Investment property measurements are categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements 
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. During the year there were no transfers of 
investment properties between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

The accepted methods for assessing the current market value of an investment property are the Capitalisation and the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) approaches. 
Each approach derives a value based on market inputs, including:

 – recent comparable transactions;

 – forecast future rentals, based on the actual location, type and quality of the investment properties, and supported by the terms of any existing lease, 
other contracts or external evidence such as current market rents for similar properties;

 – vacancy assumptions based on current and expected future market conditions after expiry of any current lease;

 – maintenance and capital requirements including necessary investments to maintain functionality of the property for its expected useful life; and

 – appropriate discount rates derived from recent comparable market transactions reflecting the uncertainty in the amount and timing of cashflows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8. Investment Property (continued)
The key inputs used to measure fair value of investment properties, along with their sensitivity to significant increase or decrease, are as follows:

SIGNIFICANT INPUT DESCRIPTION FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT SENSITIVITY TO SIGNIFICANT: VALUATION METHOD

INCREASE IN INPUT DECREASE IN INPUT

Market capitalisation 
rate

The capitalisation rate applied to the 
market income to assess an investment 
property’s value. The capitalisation rate is 
derived from detailed analysis of factors 
such as comparable sales evidence and 
leasing transactions in the open market 
taking into account location, tenant 
covenant – lease term and conditions, size 
and quality of the investment property.

Decrease in property 
values

Increase in property 
values

Capitalisation

Discount rate The discount rate is applied to future cash 
flows of an investment property to provide 
a net present value equivalent. The 
discount rate adopted takes into account 
recent comparable market transactions, 
prospective rates of return for alternative 
investments and apparent risk.

Decrease in property 
values

Increase in property 
values

DCF

Price per square metre The price applied to site area for 
comparable sales. This enables comparison 
with comparable sales in the open market.

Increase in property 
values

Decrease in property 
values

Market Comparison

AS AT 30 JUNE 2016 MARKET CAPITALISATION RATE DISCOUNT RATE PRICE PER SQUARE METRE

Investment Property 5.5% to 6.5% 8.00% -14.5% $100 to $2,938

AS AT 30 JUNE 2015 MARKET CAPITALISATION RATE DISCOUNT RATE PRICE PER SQUARE METRE

Investment Property 5.75% to 7.75% 8.25%-14.5% $100 to $2,500
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

9. Income Tax

NOTE 30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Reconciliation of Tax Expense and Accounting Profit: 

Accounting Profit before Taxation 168,097,434 71,432,234

Adjusted for: 

Non-Taxable Revaluation of Investment Properties  (151,701,257)  (65,670,154)

Non-Deductible Expenses  3,170,039  1,667,040 

Other  (720,422)  (547,160)

Taxable Income 18,845,794 6,881,960

Income Tax  3,415,469 1,381,765

Maori Authority Credits Received  (69,976)  (84,875)

Adjustments in Respect of Current Income Tax of Prior Years  351,133  38,839 

Tax effect of Total Temporary Differences 18  49,347  171,834 

Reversal of Prior Period Deferred Tax  221,753  (1,065,194)

Income Tax Expense 3,967,726 442,369

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Maori Authority Credits

At Beginning of Year  3,701,569  1,916,739 

Net Tax Payments  2,822,384  1,853,324 

Resident Withholding Tax  51,013  15,557 

Imputation Credits on Dividends Received  707  824 

Imputation Credits on Dividends Paid  (69,976)  (84,875)

Closing Balance as at 30 June 6,505,697 3,701,569

10. Cash and Cash Equivalents

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Cash at Bank and in Hand 2,963,676  4,861,217 

Term Deposits 14,296  – 

 2,977,972  4,861,217
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11. Trade and Other Receivables

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

GST Receivable – 188,641 

Trade Receivables 3,724,253 2,079,858 

Provision for Doubtful Debts (269,997) (255,890)

Prepayments 529,926 505,680 

Accrued Revenue and other receivables 436,488 295,843 

Income Tax Receivable – 251 

4,420,670 2,814,383

(I) FAIR VALUE AND CREDIT RISK

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate to their fair value. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Collateral is not held as security, nor is it the Group’s policy to transfer (on-sell) receivables 
to special purpose entities.

(II) FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. Interest rate risk exposure is disclosed in note 20 (a).

12. Contingent Liabilities
Under the lease to the New Zealand Defence Force (“NZDF”) in relation to the Narrowneck Block, NZDF have the ability to bring the lease to an end at any time 
from the 15th anniversary of the commencement date. If NZDF exercises this right Whai Rawa Property Holdings Limited Partnership is obliged to pay to NZDF 
an amount calculated in accordance with a pre-arranged formulae that reflects the rent that NZDF has prepaid for the unexpired portion of the lease term.

If the lease is terminated between the 15th and 21st anniversary of the commencement date the amount payable to NZDF will be between $1.0 million and 
$7.4 million; if the lease is terminated after the 21st anniversary of commencement no payment will be required.

13. Intangible Assets

SOFTWARE TOTAL

As at 1 July 2015  31,265  31,265 

Additions  29,875  29,875 

Amortisation Charge  (21,237)  (21,237)

At 30 June 2016  39,903  39,903 

Cost  64,163  64,163 

Accumulated Amortisation  (24,260)  (24,260)

Net Book Value 30 June 2016  39,903  39,903

14. Trade and Other Payables

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Trade payables  996,606  1,063,975 

Accrued expenses  1,418,782  2,292,961 

GST Payable  267,074  150,810 

Other payables  178,494  30,750 

Termination Fees in Advance  5,093,335  4,606,455 

 7,954,291  8,144,951 

15. Employee Benefits

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Wages and PAYE Accrued  713,307  588,113 

Employee Entitlements  566,060  717,252 

 1,279,367  1,305,365

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

16. Refundable Occupation Right Agreement
Residents purchase an Occupation Rights Agreement (“ORA”) issued under the Retirement Village Act 2003. A portion of the ORA is refundable when residents 
leave. An amount of $46,734,149, (30 June 2015 : $47,800,941) is shown as a liability on the balance sheet payable by the village operator. Settlement of 
the refundable deposit only occurs when a new ORA is issued to a new resident.

17. Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings

30 JUNE 2016
TOTAL FACILITY

$

30 JUNE 2015
TOTAL FACILITY

$

30 JUNE 2016
UNDRAWN FACILITY

$

30 JUNE 2015
UNDRAWN FACILITY

$

30 JUNE 2016
NET BOOK VALUE

$

30 JUNE 2015
NET BOOK VALUE

$

BNZ 

Cash Advance Facility 4 year  37,500,000  37,500,000  –  –  37,500,000  37,500,000 

Cash Advance Facility 5 year  62,500,000  37,500,000  25,000,000  –  37,500,000  37,500,000 

 100,000,000  75,000,000  25,000,000  –  75,000,000  75,000,000 

ANZ

Eastcliffe Bank Loan  5,000,000  5,000,000  950,000  950,000  4,050,000  4,050,000 

Cash Advance Facility 4 year  17,500,000  17,500,000  –  –  17,500,000  17,500,000 

Cash Advance Facility 5 year  17,500,000  17,500,000  –  –  17,500,000  17,500,000 

 40,000,000  40,000,000  950,000  950,000  39,050,000  39,050,000 

Westpac 

Cash Advance Facility 4.5 year  37,500,000  37,500,000  – –  37,500,000  37,500,000 

Cash Advance Facility 5 year  25,000,000  –  25,000,000 –  –  – 

Cash Advance Facility 5.5 year  37,500,000  37,500,000  28,100,000  37,000,000  9,400,000  500,000 

 100,000,000  75,000,000  53,100,000  37,000,000  46,900,000  38,000,000 

 240,000,000  190,000,000  79,050,000  37,950,000  160,950,000  152,050,000 

Accrued Interest  321,212  796,791 

Establishment fees  (215,506)  (201,568)

Total Net Book Value  161,055,706  152,645,223 

Current Portion  321,212  796,791 

Non – Current Portion  160,734,494  151,848,432 

Total Net Book Value  161,055,706  152,645,223 

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Bank Facility Expiry Profile:

3-4 years  152,500,000  55,000,000 

4-5 years  87,500,000  97,500,000 

5+ years  –  37,500,000 

 240,000,000  190,000,000 

On 22 May 2015, the Group established a new loan facility for a total amount of $185,000,000. This was increased to $235,000,000 on 22 February 2016. 
Secured borrowings are via cash advance facility agreements with Bank of New Zealand, Westpac New Zealand Limited and ANZ Bank New Zealand Limited.

The bank security on the facility is managed through a security trustee who holds a first ranking mortgage on all the investment properties owned by the Group, 
with the exception of Orakei residential properties and Eastcliffe on Orakei Retirement Village. There is also a registered first ranking security interest under a 
General Security Deed over substantially all the assets of the Group, with the exception of Orakei residential properties and Eastcliffe on Orakei Retirement Village.

Eastcliffe Orakei Retirement Care LP have a separate bank facility of $5,000,000 with ANZ Bank New Zealand Limited. This facility expires on 29 May 2020. The 
bank security on this facility is a second ranking registered mortgage over leasehold property located at 217 Kupe Street, Orakei and a first ranking general 
security deed over the assets of Eastcliffe Orakei Retirement Care LP and Eastcliffe Orakei Management Services LP.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

18. Deferred Tax

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY NOTE  30 JUNE 2016 
 $ 

30 JUNE 2015
$

At Beginning of Year  2,988,564  3,881,924 

Current Period Movement on Deferred Tax 9  49,347 171,834

Reversal of Prior Period Deferred Tax  101,882  (1,065,194)

Total Taxable Temporary Differences as at 30 June  3,139,793 2,988,564

Deferred Tax Liabilities are Attributable to the Following:

Long Term Leases  2,910,007  2,919,317 

Accrued Revenue  301,596  245,326 

Property, Plant and Equipment  –  168,716 

Employee Benefits  (40,132)  (86,029)

Provision for Doubtful Debts  (31,678)  (37,012)

Losses Carried Forward  –  (221,754)

 3,139,793  2,988,564

19. Cash Flow Statement Reconciliation

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Net Profit for the year  164,129,708  70,989,865 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment  512,691  431,630 

Amortisation of Intangible Assets  5,869  3,022 

Impairment Expense  –  1,120,302 

Amortisation of Termination Fee Income  (1,364,205)  (1,214,795)

Amortisation of Borrowing Costs  13,938  4,349 

Loss on Property, Plant and Equipment demolished  34,075  106,165 

Rent recognised on Prepaid Leases  (667,876)  (1,352,796)

Loss On Sale  16,764  – 

Rent accrued on Fixed Uplift Leases and Lease Incentives  (321,546)  (485,543)

Gain on Revaluation of Investment Property  (156,888,649)  (71,031,799)

 (158,658,939)  (72,419,465)

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables  (3,059,090)  4,394,082 

Increase in Inventory  (2,520,289)  (5,051,620)

Increase in Employee Benefits  82,863  419,458 

(Decrease)/Increase in Trade and Other Payables  (675,167)  134,220 

Increase/(Decrease) in Tax Payables  988,515  (2,079,215)

Increase in Refundable Occupation Rights  1,606,110  1,471,897 

Decrease in Interest Accruals  (475,579)  (1,683,983)

Increase in Housing Loans Advanced  (4,914,893)  – 

 (8,967,530)  (2,395,161)

Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities  (3,496,761)  (3,824,761)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, bank loans and overdrafts, cash, short-term deposits and refundable 
occupation rights.

The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks, including interest rate and credit risk in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policy. 
The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets whilst protecting future financial security.

The Group has no currency risk.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. 

RISK EXPOSURES AND RESPONSES 

(a) Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations. The level of debt and terms are disclosed in Note 17.

Note 17 indicates the maturity dates of fixed Interest Bearing Loans. At maturity date market interest rates will be applicable on the renewed fixed term.

The Group’s policy is to manage its finance costs and interest rate risk using fixed interest rate debt at registered banks.

At balance date, the Group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to New Zealand variable interest rate risk:

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,977,972  4,861,217 

Housing Loans  4,692,378  – 

Financial Liabilities

Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings  160,950,000  152,050,000 

Net Liability  153,279,650  147,188,783

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit 
risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. Exposure at balance date is 
addressed in each applicable note.

The Group does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

(c) Liquidity Risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a continuity of funding through the use of bank loans and regular rental income from commercial assets.

The change in freehold property values referred to at Note 8 may impact future cashflows, as rent renewals are generally based on freehold property values. 
A policy has been adopted of spreading lease renewal dates to mitigate this risk.

The table below reflects all contractually fixed payments and receivables for settlement, repayments and interest resulting from recognised financial assets 
and liabilities as of 30 June 2016. Cash flows for financial assets and liabilities without fixed amount or timing are based on the conditions existing at 
30 June 2016.

(d) Capital Management

Management considers capital as total equity plus net debt.

When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to maintain optimal returns to shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)
Maturity analysis of financial assets based on management’s expectation and financial liabilities based on contractual maturities:

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016: WITHIN 1 YEAR
$

1-5 YEARS
$

> 5 YEARS
$

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,977,972  –  – 

Trade and Other Receivables  4,420,670  –  – 

Housing Loans  –  –  4,692,378 

 7,398,642  –  4,692,378 

Financial Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables  9,233,658  –  – 

Refundable Occupation Right Agreements  46,734,149  –  – 

Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings  321,212  160,950,000  – 

 56,289,019  160,950,000  – 

Net Liability 48,890,377 160,950,000 (4,692,378)

Maturity analysis of financial assets based on management’s expectation and financial liabilities based on contractual maturities:

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015: WITHIN 1 YEAR
$

1-5 YEARS
$

> 5 YEARS
$

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  4,861,217  –  – 

Trade and Other Receivables  2,814,383  –  – 

 7,675,600  –  – 

Financial Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables  9,450,316  –  – 

Refundable Occupation Right Agreements  47,800,941  –  – 

Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings  796,791  151,550,000  500,000 

 58,048,048  151,550,000  500,000 

Net Liability 50,372,448 151,550,000  500,000

The contractual maturity of the refundable occupation right agreements may differ from the expected maturity.

The previous tables show the contractual maturity. It is not expected that all residents will exercise their right to vacate their residence under the occupation 
right agreements within the next 12 months. Settlement of a refundable occupational right agreement only occurs when a new occupational right agreement is 
issued to an incoming resident.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

21. Operating Lease Commitment – Expenses
The Group has entered into leases for business premises, motor vehicles and a copier. These leases have an average life of 3 years. The lease for the business 
premises has renewal options included in the contract.

Future operating lease rentals for business premises, motor vehicles and equipment are not recognised in the financial statements. The minimum lease rental 
commitments at balance date are as follows:

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Within one year  391,227  378,677 

Between one and five years  803,094  997,551 

After more than five years  –  97,236 

 1,194,321  1,473,464 

22. Capital Commitments
Contracted capital commitments at the end of the year in respect of:

30 JUNE 2016
$

30 JUNE 2015
$

Investment Property

Acquisition  2,482,200  7,006,236 

Refurbishment programme  180,244  71,108 

 2,662,444  7,077,344 

Inventory

Kāinga Tuatahi  1,071,688  9,222,764 

Total Capital Commitments  3,734,132  16,300,108

23. GUARANTEES
Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trust has undertaken to provide guarantees to eight mortgages with an unrelated third party. The maximum liability to the Trust is 
approximately $1 million (2015: $1.2 million). As at 30 June 2016 no liability has arisen from this guarantee.

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There have been no subsequent events post balance date.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Trustees of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trust 
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trust and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) on pages 31 to 51, which comprise 
the statement of financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2016, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

This report is made solely to the trust members, as a body. Our audit has been undertaken so that we might state to the trust’s members those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the trust and the trust members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

TRUSTEE’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Trustees are responsible on behalf of the entity for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, in accordance with New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime, and for such internal control as the Trustee’s determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). These auditing standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, we have considered the internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Our firm has provided GST advisory services, remuneration benchmarking information and financial statement preperation assistance to the group. 
Other than these services and in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interest in, Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei Trust or its subsidiaries. 

Partners and employees of our firm may deal with the group on normal terms within the ordinary course of trading activities of the business of the group.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements on pages 31 to 51 present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as at 
30 June 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.

29 September 2016

Auckland
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